Employment Practices Loss Prevention Guidelines

A Practical Guide from Chubb



Employment Practices Liability Loss Prevention

A Practical Guide from Chubb

Prepared by Seyfarth Shaw LLP For the Chubb Group of Insurance Companies

Contents

Introduction	7
Overview: Federal Laws That Govern The Employment Relationship	8
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964	8
Section 1981 of the Civil Rights Act of 1866	10
Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA	12
Equal Pay Act (EPA	13
Executive Order 11246 (Affirmative Action Plans and the Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs [OFCCP]	13
The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), Americans with Disabilities Act Amendments Act (ADAAA) and the Rehabilitation Act of 1973	15
Lilly Ledbetter Fair Pay Act of 2009 (LLFPA	19
The Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA	19
Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994 (USERRA) and the Vietnam Era Veterans' Readjustment Assistance Act of 1974	21
Labor Laws and Union Representation	22
Wage and Hour Laws	24
Employee Benefit Laws	25
Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act (GINA)	26
Other Federal Laws	28
State Statutes And Local Ordinances Regulating Employment	29
State Common Law Employment Claims	30

of Public Policy	31
Breach of Contract	32
Tort Claims	33
Promissory Estoppel	33
Tortious Interference with Contract	34
Invasion of Privacy	34
Assault and Battery	35
False Imprisonment	36
Negligence Claims	36
Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress	36
Defamation	38
Fraud and Misrepresentation	39
cruiting and Hiring Employees	41
Before You Begin the Hiring Process	41
Employment Applications	44
Job Interviews	48
Investigating Candidates for Employment: References, Credit and	
Background Checks	53
Hiring an Applicant	58
Immigration Considerations	60
nployee and Applicant Testing	62
Medical Testing (ADA Limitations)	62
Drug and Alcohol Testing	64
Psychological and Personality Tests	66
"Lie Detector" or Polygraph Tests	67
HIV Testing	68
Performance and Aptitude Tests	70
Fingerprinting	71
Genetic Testing	72

The Prohibition of Workplace Harassment	72
Rules for Claims of Sexual Harrassment	73
Conduct Prohibited	73
Protected Groups	74
Employer Liability	75
The Importance of an Appropriate, Well-Publicized	
Policy Against Harassment	75
Responding to Reports of Harassment	76
Additional Considerations	82
Claims by the Accused Harasser	82
Off-Premises Harassment	8
Liability for Harassment by Nonemployees	83
Customer Discrimination and Equal Access Claims	84
Personnel Policies and Employee Handbooks	85
General Tips	85
Disclaim Any Promise of Job Security	85
Avoid Making Contractual Obligations	87
Use Clear and Concise Language	87
Specifically Allow for Flexibility and Modification	87
Good Policies to Include in an Employee Handbook	88
Policies That Give Rise to Claims	89
Employee Evaluations	92
General Guidelines	93
Instructions for Supervisors	94
Training	95
Job-Related Appraisals	96
Objective and Independent Review	97
Meaningful Evaluations	98
Employee Acknowledgement	99

Litilited Access to Evaluations	99
Record Keeping	99
Forced Rankings	100
Discipline and Corrective Action	101
General Considerations	101
Discipline Should Be Documented	104
Workplace Investigations	106
Terminating the Employment Relationship	106
The Basics	106
Establish Termination Procedures	107
Making the Termination Decision	107
Communicating the Termination Decision	109
Responding to Post-Termination Issues	111
Severance Agreements	113
Pros and Cons of Severance and Release Agreements	113
Legal Requirements	114
Summary of Common Contents of Severance and Release Agreements	115
Layoffs and Reductions In Force	117
Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act	117
The Decision-Making Process	118
Preparation for RIF-Related Interviews	119
Other Considerations	119
Single-Plaintiff And Multiparty Employment Litigation, Including Class And Collective Actions; The Alternative Dispute Resolution Option; And Other Issues	122
Types of Claims	122
Arbitration and Other Types of Alternative Dispute Resolution	124
Advantages of Pre-Dispute ADR Programs	125
Advantages of Post-Dispute ADR Programs	126
Disadvantages of ADR	127

The Use of Personnel Records in Employment Litigation 129 Assume All Documents Are Available to Your Opponent 129 The Benefits of Properly Prepared Documents 132 Problematic Documents 132 Document Retention 135 Conclusion 136 Information About The Authors 137

Introduction

Employers face increasing legal obligations in managing their workforces. The federal government and the states continually impose new employment regulations on employers, designed to protect employees from a lengthening list of discriminatory practices. In addition, large, high-visibility verdicts and settlements encourage some employees who think they have been treated unfairly to sue over employment actions. Companies face legal fees and litigation expenses, and employment practices liability (EPL) suits consume managers' time. In this difficult environment, employers must keep pace with changes in the law and continually adapt by ensuring that existing policies are up to date, drafting new policies when necessary, and adopting new employment practices when appropriate.

In such a fluid environment, avoiding employment claims might seem impossible. It isn't. The keys are staying up-to-date on employment law, understanding which laws apply to an organization, and instituting policies and taking other steps that can limit potential claims and make actual claims easier and less costly to defend.

This guide is intended to help. It offers an overview of the federal laws governing the employment relationship, highlighting the rules and regulations governing various events in the employee-employer relationship. It includes practical suggestions for limiting employment liability, from initial interview to termination of employment, and it discusses common types of employment claims and what to expect from employment litigation.

Chubb is pleased to share this information with you. If you already have a program in place to help your organization manage its employment practices, we hope this guide will

serve as a practical resource and supplement your organization's effort to build a strong and appropriate loss prevention program.

Overview: Federal Laws That Govern the Employment Relationship

Many laws have an impact on employment, either directly or indirectly. To acquire knowledge of all such laws is not practical, but employers should be aware of the major statutes that govern the employment relationship and should be aware of other general employment principles. A number of laws are extremely significant in the employment context. All employers should be aware of these laws and the legal obligations they impose. The following summary provides an overview of these laws.

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964

Title VII is one of the most common bases of employment litigation. The statute makes it unlawful for an employer to "fail or refuse to hire or to discharge any individual, or otherwise to discriminate against any individual with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment" because of race, color, religion, sex, including sexual harassment, national origin, and pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. The U.S. Supreme Court found that Title VII protects against both sexual harassment by the opposite sex and sexual harassment by the same sex (e.g., male on male sexual harassment). Title VII prohibitions against workplace harassment are dealt with in greater detail on page 54.

Title VII applies to employers with 15 or more employees. All employees, including part-time and temporary workers, are counted for purposes of determining whether an employer is covered. Title VII cases are initially processed by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) or an equivalent state agency. Following the initial processing of the case, the complaining party is typically issued a notice of his or her right to sue. Individual employees or the EEOC may then file suit in federal court. A charge alleging a violation of Title VII must be filed with the EEOC within 300 days of the alleged unlawful act (180 days in some states). A federal court lawsuit must be filed within 90 days after receipt of the right-to-sue notice.

Claims under Title VII are established through either direct evidence of an intent to discriminate or indirect (circumstantial) evidence. A Title VII claim may arise from an alleged unlawful difference in treatment afforded similarly situated employees based on one of the above classifications (known as disparate treatment) or from an employment practice that appears nondiscriminatory but that has an adverse impact on employees in a protected class (known as disparate impact).

Most commonly, claims under Title VII allege that an individual was treated unfavorably regarding a term or condition of employment because the individual belonged to a protected class. In other words, these claims assert that the decision maker made an employment decision based on an individual's race, gender, or other protected classification. To succeed on such a claim, the individual typically produces circumstantial evidence of discrimination; e.g., that he or she belongs to a protected class, was qualified for a position, and was denied the position, and the job remained open or was filled by an individual who was not in the protected class. After the claimant produces this

evidence, the employer can avoid liability by articulating a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason for its actions. If the employer can do this, the employee must then prove that the employer's reason is pretextual, i.e., that the employer's motive was intended to mask its true intention.

In some cases, an employee may have direct evidence of discrimination (e.g., an admission that the employer is prejudiced), which may relieve the employee of the need to present circumstantial evidence. In others, employees will claim that discrimination and legitimate reasons combined to motivate the employer's action (called a "mixed-motive" case).

Generally, remedies for unlawful employment discrimination include reinstatement or hiring, court orders to eliminate discriminatory practices, lost wages (including benefits), damages, and attorneys' fees. Based on amendments enacted as part of the Civil Rights Act of 1991, compensatory and punitive damages are also available from private employers. The size of the employer determines the maximum compensatory and punitive damages available: \$50,000 for employers with 15 to 100 employees; \$100,000 for employers with 101 to 200 employees; \$200,000 for employers with 201 to 500 employees; and \$300,000 for employers with more than 500 employees.

Section 1981 of the Civil Rights Act of 1866

Section 1981 is also frequently the basis for race discrimination claims—typically brought in conjunction with a claim under Title VII. Section 1981, enacted following the Civil War, makes it unlawful for any person to be denied "the same right...to make and enforce

contracts...as is enjoyed by white citizens." Section 1981 has been interpreted to protect against discriminatory employment practices. Most courts have found that even an at-will employee has an employment "contract" that is sufficient to support a claim under Section 1981.

Section 1981 defines "race" to include ethnic background. Section 1981 thus protects all "identifiable classes of persons who are subjected to intentional discrimination solely because of their ancestry or ethnic characteristics," which, according to the U.S. Supreme Court, includes Arabs and Jews.

Section 1981 applies to all employers, both private and public. Therefore, employers that are not covered by Title VII are covered by Section 1981, and employers that are covered by Title VII are covered by both laws. However, cases alleging discrimination based on a disparate impact can be brought only under Title VII because Section 1981 requires proof of intentional discrimination. Section 1981 does not require the same administrative prerequisites as are required under Title VII; employees can file directly in federal or state court.

Generally, remedies for violations of Section 1981 include lost wages (including benefits), reinstatement, injunctive relief, and attorneys' fees and costs. Compensatory and punitive damages can also be awarded but, unlike Title VII, there are no statutory caps for such damages. Under a recent Supreme Court decision, Jones v. R.R. Donnelley & Sons Co., two statutes of limitation are possible for Section 1981 claims. For claims alleging failure to hire, the applicable state statute of limitations for tort claims, usually two years, will apply to Section 1981 claims. For other claims, including harassment and certain types of failure-to-promote claims, a uniform four-year federal statute of limitations will apply.

Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA)

The ADEA makes it unlawful—regarding any employee more than 40 years of age—for an employer to "fail or refuse to hire or to discharge any individual or otherwise discriminate against any individual with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such individual's age."

The ADEA covers employers with 20 or more employees. Like cases under Title VII, ADEA cases are initially processed by the EEOC or an equivalent state agency. In addition to allowing reinstatement and recovery of lost wages, lost benefits, and attorneys' fees, the ADEA provides for the award of liquidated (double) damages in cases of willful violations. Front pay may also be awarded. Compensatory and punitive damages are not available under the ADEA.

Significantly, the ADEA does not require an employer to provide equal health insurance, life insurance, or disability benefits to older workers if it costs more to do so, provided that the employer spends the same amount on both older and younger workers. The ADEA poses particularly difficult problems in the context of hiring practices and reductions in force, as these events typically impact older workers more than other workers.

The Supreme Court recently held that the ADEA does not provide a cause of action to a relatively younger employee who allegedly has been discriminated against in favor of older employees. In *General Dynamics Land Systems, Inc. v. Cline*, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the ADEA does not prohibit discrimination against relatively younger workers over the age of 40 in favor of relatively older workers over the age of 40. The Court reached this conclusion largely based upon

the history of the ADEA, which demonstrated that the statute was designed to protect older employees against discrimination in favor of younger ones, not the other way around. Although federal law will not support such "reverse discrimination" claims, management should be aware that the antidiscrimination laws of several states cover claims of age discrimination brought by younger employees who feel that older employees have received preferential treatment. For example, the New Jersey Law Against Discrimination protects all employees over the age of 18 from agebased discrimination.

Equal Pay Act (EPA)

The EPA makes it unlawful to pay employees at a rate less than the rate applicable to "employees of the opposite sex" for "equal work" on jobs requiring equal skill, equal effort and equal responsibility, and where the work is "performed under similar working conditions." There are a number of exceptions that justify a differential, the most significant being a wage differential based on some "factor other than sex," such as seniority. The EPA applies to most employers. Aggrieved individuals may file suit or may file a charge with the EEOC. The statute of limitations and available remedies are similar to those under the Fair Labor Standards Act, discussed on pages 19-20.

Executive Order 11246 (Affirmative Action Plans and the Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs (OFCCP)

Executive Order 11246 establishes nondiscrimination and affirmative action requirements for federal contractors. It prohibits discrimination and requires affirmative action with regard to race, sex, ethnicity, and religion.

Except for contractors exempted by regulation,
Executive Order 11246 covers contractors with a federal
construction contract or with a federally assisted
construction or nonconstruction contract in excess of
\$10,000. Such contractors must include in their contracts
and comply with an "Equal Opportunity Clause" wherein
the contractor agrees to make certain disclosures
and statements of nondiscrimination to employees,
applicants, collective bargaining representatives,
subcontractors, and vendors.

All federal contractors with 50 or more employees must develop, and all government contracts of \$50,000 or more must have, written affirmative action plans (AAPs). The OFCCP's regulations set forth the required contents of an AAP, including both written and statistical portions.

Additionally, numerous statistical analyses are required, such as an organizational analysis; job group analysis; availability analysis, comparing incumbency to availability; and annual goals. A compensation analysis to detect disparities by race and gender must also be conducted but is not included in the AAP.

The OFCCP conducts periodic compliance reviews of federal contractors to examine their affirmative action and employment practices. Impact ratio analyses and compensation analyses are significant focuses of these audits. The OFCCP also investigates complaints filed by individuals alleging discrimination. However, individuals do not have the authority to sue on their own behalf. Failure to comply with an administrative determination finding a violation of Executive Order 11246 "shall result in the immediate cancellation, termination and suspension of the respondent's contracts and/or debarment of the respondent from further contracts."

The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), Americans with Disabilities Act Amendments Act (ADAAA) and the Rehabilitation Act of 1973

The ADA provides significant protections for disabled workers. Congress intended the ADA to eliminate barriers to employment for disabled individuals. In general, the ADA prohibits covered employers from discriminating against qualified disabled individuals on account of their disability. The ADA also prohibits disability-related inquiries and medical testing during the hiring process prior to making a provisional offer of employment.

The ADA applies to employers that have employed 15 or more full-time and/or part-time employees in each of 20 or more calendar weeks during the current or preceding calendar year. Unlike other laws (e.g., the Family Medical Leave Act), the ADA has no minimum service requirement before an employee is protected. In fact, the ADA applies to applicants for employment.

In 2008, the ADA was amended via the Americans with Disabilities Act Amendments Act (ADAAA) to broaden the scope of protection under the law, which had been narrowed through a series of U.S. Supreme Court rulings. The amended version of the ADA went into effect January 1, 2009. Under the amended version of the ADA, it is easier for an individual to establish that he or she is disabled and entitled to the ADA's legal protections, such as the right to be reasonably accommodated. Regulations and guidance on the ADAAA, developed by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC), went into effect on May 24, 2011. Although many of the new regulations are consistent with the language of the amended ADA, the EEOC has broadly interpreted the law with respect to certain provisions. Among the most

farreaching provisions is the EEOC's identification of conditions that will "virtually always" be considered disabilities under the ADA. The regulations also make clear that any impairment can be a covered disability—no matter how brief in duration the impairment.

According to the ADAAA, to be covered, a person must be an "individual with a disability" and "qualified" for the job in question. An employee or applicant is "disabled" if he or she: (1) has a physical or mental condition that substantially limits a major life activity; (2) has a history of a disability (such as cancer that is in remission); or (3) is regarded as having a physical or mental impairment that is not transitory (lasting or expected to last six months or less) and minor (even if he or she does not have such an impairment).

Under the ADA, major life activities include, but are not limited to, caring for oneself, performing manual tasks, seeing, hearing, eating, sleeping, walking, standing, lifting, bending, speaking, breathing, learning, reading, concentrating, thinking, communicating and working. The EEOC's May 2011 regulations added sitting, reaching, and interacting with others to this nonexhaustive list. A major life activity also includes the operation of a major bodily function, including but not limited to: functions of the immune system; normal cell growth; and digestive, bowel, bladder, neurological, brain, respiratory, circulatory, endocrine and reproductive functions.

The EEOC guidance also provides a list of conditions that "in virtually all cases" meet the definition of disability based on characteristics associated with them. The list of per se disabilities includes autism, cancer, cerebral palsy, diabetes, epilepsy, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection, multiple sclerosis, muscular dystrophy, major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, posttraumatic

stress disorder, obsessive compulsive disorder, and schizophrenia.

The amended ADA clarifies that an individual need show only that an impairment limits one major life activity and extends ADA protections to those with episodic impairments or conditions that are in remission, provided that the impairment would substantially limit a major life activity in its active state. Examples that fall into this category include: epilepsy, multiple sclerosis, cancer, and psychiatric disabilities such as major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, and post-traumatic stress disorder.

An employee or applicant bringing a claim under the ADA is required to establish that he or she is "qualified" for the job in question. A qualified individual with a disability is a person "who satisfies the requisite skill, experience, education and other job-related requirements of the employment position" and can perform the essential functions of the position with or without a reasonable accommodation.

The ADA requires employers to make reasonable accommodations for disabled individuals so that they can perform the essential functions of their jobs. Examples of reasonable accommodations include making existing facilities readily accessible to, and usable by, individuals with disabilities; job restructuring; parttime or modified work schedules; reassignment to vacant positions; acquiring or modifying equipment or devices; changing job tests, training materials, or policies; and providing qualified readers or interpreters. The ADA's reasonable accommodation requirement underscores the importance of job descriptions, appropriate preemployment inquiries and physical examinations, and other employment practices.

An employer is required to participate in a good-faith, interactive dialogue with the disabled individual in order to determine the appropriate accommodation in a given situation. An employer may be excused from providing reasonable accommodations to a disabled applicant or employee if the employer can show that to do so would impose an "undue hardship," defined as an action requiring significant difficulty or expense, taking into account the employer's size and resources.

ADA cases are initially processed by the EEOC and, once processed, can lead to a federal court suit. Generally, back pay and benefits can be awarded along with reinstatement, injunctive relief, and the plaintiff's attorneys' fees and costs. Compensatory and punitive damages are also available, depending on the employer's number of employees, up to a maximum of \$300,000. A complaining person must file a charge within 300 days after the alleged discrimination (180 days in some states). A lawsuit must be filed within 90 days after receipt of the right-to-sue notice terminating the EEOC's review. State laws may impose greater protections for disabled individuals than those afforded by the ADA.

The Rehabilitation Act of 1973 prohibits disability discrimination in employment by federal employers, employers with federal contracts of more than \$10,000, and programs receiving federal financial assistance. Specifically, the Rehabilitation Act states that no "otherwise qualified individual with a disability" may "solely by reason of her or his disability be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination" under any federally funded program or activity.

The Rehabilitation Act requires covered entities to reasonably accommodate an otherwise qualified

individual with a disability unless doing so would impose undue hardship. Generally, employers that comply with the requirements of the ADA will meet the requirements of the Rehabilitation Act. Applicants or employees may file an administrative complaint alleging a violation of the Act with the OFCCP. Violations of the Rehabilitation Act can result in the termination of federal funding.

Lilly Ledbetter Fair Pay Act of 2009 (LLFPA)

The LLFPA establishes the charge-filing periods for filing an equal-pay lawsuit regarding pay discrimination. The LLFPA amends Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, the ADA, the Rehabilitation Act, and the ADEA to provide that the chargefiling periods commence when: (1) a discriminatory compensation decision or other practice is adopted; (2) an individual becomes subject to the decision or practice; or (3) an individual is affected by an application of a discriminatory compensation decision or practice (including each time wages, benefits, or other compensation are paid). Under the LLFPA, the statute of limitations period restarts each time an employee receives a paycheck based on a discriminatory compensation decision.

The Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA)

The FMLA provides eligible employees with up to 12 weeks of unpaid leave in a 12-month period. The FMLA, which creates protections for employees before, during, and after FMLA leave, is significant in three respects. First, in covered circumstances, the FMLA creates an absolute entitlement to leave for eligible employees. Second, an employee is entitled to health benefits while on FMLA leave on the same terms and conditions as if the

employee was still working. Third, upon returning from FMLA leave, an employee is entitled to be reinstated to the same, or an equivalent, position with equivalent pay and benefits.

The FMLA applies to employers that have employed 50 or more full-time and/or part-time employees for 20 or more calendar weeks during the current or preceding calendar year. Public employers (such as municipalities) are covered by the FMLA regardless of size.

An employee is eligible for FMLA leave if the employee 1) works at a work site at which 50 or more employees are employed or within 75 miles of such a site, 2) has worked for the employer for 12 months, and 3) has worked at least 1,250 hours in the year before the leave commences.

An eligible employee may take FMLA leave for 1) child care following the birth of a child or placement of a child for adoption or foster care; 2) care for a spouse, child, or parent of the employee who has a serious health condition; or 3) a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform an essential function of his or her position.

The 12-month period during which leave is available to an eligible employee may be measured 1) on a calendaryear basis, 2) a fiscal year or any other fixed 12-month period (e.g., measured from the eligible employee's hire date), 3) a 12-month period that begins on the date of an employee's first request for leave, or 4) a rolling 12-month period looking back over the preceding 12 months from the date of the leave request. Employers must uniformly apply one of these methods of calculation to all employees.

Employers may impose certain obligations on employees who seek to take FMLA leave, such as requiring medical certification of a serious health condition when leave is taken for this reason. However, employers must generally take affirmative steps to implement these obligations. Failing to properly notify an employee of his or her obligations may preclude the employer from enforcing the requirement. Employers are also explicitly prohibited from interfering with an employee's exercise of rights under the FMLA; from discriminating against an employee for opposing practices made unlawful by the FMLA; and from retaliating against an employee for participating in any proceedings related to enforcement of the FMLA.

The FMLA is administered by the U.S. Department of Labor (DOL). An employee can file a complaint with the DOL or pursue a private action in either state or federal court. Successful plaintiffs can recover back pay and benefits, actual monetary losses, an equal amount of back pay in "liquidated" damages, attorneys' fees, and equitable relief. The statute of limitations for FMLA claims is two years, or three years for willful violations. Finally, employers should be aware that state laws may provide employees with greater leave rights than does the FMLA.

Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994 (USERRA) and the Vietnam Era Veterans' Readjustment Assistance Act of 1974

The USERRA provides a broad array of protections to employees who are required to leave their employment for military service. The general purpose of the USERRA is to ensure that veterans suffer no detriment for having left their civilian employment to serve in the uniformed services. The USERRA contains antidiscrimination provisions, (2) job-restoration requirements, and (3) employee rights and benefit rules for employees on military leave. Reservists generally are afforded the same protections as inductees. The USERRA applies to all employers regardless of size and covers any person who performs service in the uniformed services.

The USERRA's antidiscrimination provisions prohibit 1) discrimination in hiring, or any terms and conditions of employment, as a result of membership in, or performance of duties for, a branch of the uniformed services; 2) adverse action against any employee who seeks leave or other benefits provided by law; and 3) retaliation against any person who assists another in securing rights provided by law.

Employees alleging violations of the USERRA can file complaints with the Veterans' Employment and Training Service of the DOL. Employees also have the option of filing private lawsuits at any time. USERRA permits recovery of back pay, benefits and attorneys' fees. Damage awards may be doubled for willful violations.

Labor Laws and Union Representation

The National Labor Relations Act (NLRA) is the basic statute governing private sector collective bargaining and union relations in the United States. Among its provisions, the NLRA establishes the framework for union representation of employees, and it defines certain employer or union conduct as constituting an unfair labor practice. Most private sector employers are subject to the NLRA, regardless of whether they are unionized.

The NLRA, as interpreted by the National Labor Relations Board (NLRB), is constantly evolving to address new workplace situations, including those at nonunionized employers. For example, Section 7 of the NLRA states that employees have the right "to form, join, or assist labor organizations, to bargain collectively through representatives of their own choosing, and to engage in other concerted activities for the purpose of collective bargaining or other mutual aid or protection, and shall also have the right to refrain from any or all such activities." The NLRB has taken the position that employees at nonunionized facilities have a right to have a co-employee present for assistance when there is a reasonable expectation that discipline will result from an investigatory interview with the management. In addition, the NLRB has interpreted "concerted activity" broadly to cover one employee if he or she acts on behalf of other workers, has discussed the matter with co-workers, or acts alone to initiate group action. Employees do not need to be in a union environment to engage in protected concerted activity. Examples of typical violations include 1) promising or implementing wage increases or other benefits to discourage concerted activity, including unionization; 2) reducing or eliminating compensation or engaging in economic threats to discourage concerted activity, including unionization; and 3) surveillance of employee unionrelated activity or interrogating employees about their union views. The NLRA also generally prohibits disparate treatment of union advocates because of their unionrelated activities, even in a nonunion environment.

Alleged violations of the NLRA are investigated by the NLRB. Depending on the specific matters that are at issue, the NLRB's determination that an employer (or union) has committed an unfair labor practice can result in a "cease and desist" order, reinstatement and/or back

pay, and other remedies. For example, in cases involving NLRB findings of egregious unfair labor practices during union organizing campaigns, remedies may include a bargaining order without a rerun election.

Additionally, there are complicated rules regarding nonsolicitation/nondistribution policies; the ability of employers to exclude nonemployee union organizers from their property; what employers may and may not do in connection with union activity or organizing efforts; and picketing, strikes, and other forms of economic pressure upon employers. The NLRA even affects such things as the degree to which an employer can restrict employees from sharing work-related information with one another, such as wage, salary or benefits information. Therefore, questions in these myriad areas should be addressed to experienced labor counsel.

Wage and Hour Laws

Hours of work and minimum levels of employee compensation in the United States and some U.S. possessions are largely governed by federal statutes and regulations referred to as the wage and hour laws. Foremost among these is the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), enacted in 1938 as a Great Depression relief measure. Through numerous amendments, the FLSA now covers nearly all nonagricultural employees and enterprises in America. The primary purposes of the FLSA remain to regulate hours of work, to eliminate substandard pay through minimum wage requirements, and to encourage employers to hire more workers by substantially increasing the cost of overtime work. Additionally, this statute sets rules regarding the employment of minors in most businesses.

The wage and hour laws are complex and some violations may result in significant financial liability or even criminal penalties. (Examples of this complexity: certain small employers may not be covered by the FLSA, the FLSA's mandatory record keeping requirements, the difficulty of determining which employees qualify for the FLSA's exemptions from overtime [new regulations were recently issued on this subject], overtime computation itself is a subject of various tests and standards, and special restrictions on the employment of workers 14 to 17 years old.)

In addition, most states and some municipalities have wage and hour laws that are more stringent than the federal laws and must be considered when formulating policy. For example, the FLSA requires employers to pay nonexempt employees one and one-half times their regular rates of pay for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours in a workweek. However, a few states impose a daily overtime requirement for work in excess of eight hours per day. By contract, an employer may also agree to overtime or other pay practices that are more stringent than the federal laws. As a result, when dealing with anything other than routine wage and hour matters, management should seek the advice of a competent attorney who practices in this area.

Employee Benefit Laws

Compensation packages typically include employersponsored retirement and health and welfare benefits. The laws and regulations affecting employee benefits arrangements are complex and far-reaching. The principal body of law governing employee benefits is in the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) and its parallel provisions in the Internal Revenue Code (IRC). However, qualified retirement plans—such

as defined benefit plans, money-purchase plans, target benefit plans, cash-balance plans, 401(k) plans, profit sharing plans, and stock bonus plans (including ESOPs)—are also affected by DOL regulations, Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (PBGC) rules, and USERRA. If company stock is held by a plan, Securities Exchange Commission (SEC) rules may also come into play.

Nonqualified retirement plans, such as supplemental executive retirement plans and other forms of deferred compensation plans, are affected by ERISA and IRC rules. Health and welfare plans offered by employers are governed by ERISA, provisions of the IRC, the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA), FMLA, the ADA, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), and the recent Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA). These laws impose an exceedingly complex set of requirements on employers. Employers should have all employee benefit plans reviewed by an experienced employee benefits attorney. Failure to comply with applicable laws can result in adverse tax consequences, personal liability for individuals who are deemed fiduciaries of benefit plans, and penalties imposed by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) or the DOL.

Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act (GINA)

GINA prohibits the collection, dissemination, or use of genetic information by employers (including employment agencies, labor organizations) to discriminate against an employee or a job applicant in any way affecting an individual's employment opportunities or receipt of benefits.

Genetic information is defined as genetic tests of the employee/job applicant or of his or her family member. In the section of the act relating to employers, genetic information also includes information about the occurrence of a disease or an illness in a family member (e.g., anecdotal family medical history). A family member is defined as a spouse, a dependent child, or all other individuals related by blood to the employee/job applicant or to his/her spouse or dependent child.

GINA includes five exceptions to its general prohibitions against the collection or use of genetic information: (1) family medical history inadvertently obtained from an employee during the course of a casual conversation; (2) genetic information obtained in conjunction with an employee's enrollment in an employer-sponsored wellness program; (3) information obtained via a medical certification submitted in compliance with the Family and Medical Leave Act; (4) family medical history inadvertently obtained through publicly available documents (e.g., obituary or death notice, other news articles); and (5) use of genetic information monitoring the biological effects of an employee's exposure to a toxic substance in the workplace.

In the event an employer acquires genetic information about an employee, the employer is required to maintain this information in the same way it already maintains other employee medical information or records. Employers that violate the provisions of GINA are subject to monetary damages, capped at \$50,000 for employers with fewer than 100 employees and at \$300,000 for employe s with more than 500 employees. Individuals seeking to recover damages under GINA must exhaust their administrative remedies by first filing a claim with the EEOC.

Other Federal Laws

Various other federal laws apply to the employment relationship and these are discussed in the following sections, which address specific stages of employment and special considerations applicable to each.

State Statutes and Local Ordinances Regulating Employment

State legislatures have imposed a variety of regulations on employers. Generally, these laws apply to employees located within the specific state, although some courts have applied state employment laws to out-of-state employees when the employer is based within the state. Federal antidiscrimination laws do not preempt more restrictive state laws, although state law regarding labor relations and employee benefits may be preempted by federal law. Although these laws are similar to the federal laws already discussed, key differences include the following: 1) state laws generally apply to smaller employers that may be exempt from compliance with the comparable federal law; 2) state laws may create additional protected statuses (e.g., sexual orientation, marital status, residency); 3) state laws may provide for damages (such as unlimited punitive damages) that are not available under federal law; and 4) state laws may not require exhaustion of administrative procedures and may allow plaintiffs to proceed directly to court. It is imperative that employers discern what obligations their local jurisdictions impose.

In addition to antidiscrimination laws, various state statutes provide additional benefits for employees and limitations for employers. For example, California employment law is peculiar in many important respects. That state has adopted a host of laws covering various aspects of employment, ranging from expansive employee leave rights, to employee privacy protections, to unique wage and hour rules, to providing a cause of action for wrongful discharge. A discussion of these unique California laws is beyond the scope of this booklet, but suffice it to say that employers with employees in California should regularly consult with

experienced California labor and employment counsel to keep current on that state's unique requirements.

In addition to state laws, many local governments have imposed employment regulations. For example, the New York City Administrative Code prohibits employment discrimination, harassment, or retaliation within the five boroughs of New York City. There is at least one notable difference between the New York Human Rights Law (NYHRL), which applies statewide, and the New York City code: pregnancy is considered a per se disability under the Administrative Code, while a routine pregnancy itself is not regarded as a disability under the NYHRL. In addition, the Administrative Code provides for recovery of a prevailing plaintiff's attorneys' fees, as well as uncapped punitive damages.

State Common Law Employment Claims

In addition to claims under federal and state statutes, employees may be able to assert claims under state common law. Generally, an employment relationship for no specific duration may be terminated at any time, for any reason or for no reason at all, at the will of either the employer or the employee. This is referred to as the employment-at-will doctrine. Under this doctrine, the reason for terminating an employee does not matter, even if the reason was unfair. Over the past several decades, however, an employer's ability to discipline or discharge its at-will employees has become more and more restricted in many states.

There are a number of recognized exceptions to the general employment at-will rule. For example, employees working under a union contract generally can be discharged only for "just cause." As noted above, various antidiscrimination statutes protect employees from being discharged based on a protected classification. Many laws also prohibit retaliation against employees for exercising rights protected by statute, such as filing workers' compensation claims or discrimination charges. Additionally, written employment contracts sometimes limit the circumstances under which an employee may be terminated.

Wrongful Discharge or Discharge in Violation of Public Policy

A number of courts recognize a wrongful discharge claim for termination in violation of a well-established public policy. Classic examples of public policy retaliatory discharge lawsuits involve employees who claim they were terminated for "whistle-blowing" (that is, reporting unlawful activities to law enforcement officials, or sometimes even complaining to the media or another company employee); filing workers' compensation claims; refusing to perform illegal, unethical, or unsafe activities on behalf of an employer; fulfilling a legal duty, such as serving on a jury or attending court when subpoenaed as a witness; and cooperating in a governmental investigation involving the employer. A major concern with public policy discharge cases is that they often are treated like personal injury cases, which means that employees who win these lawsuits may be able to collect compensation for mental anguish and punitive damages that can greatly exceed their actual economic damage.

Breach of Contract

The most common wrongful termination claim alleges that an employer breached a contract, whether formal or informal, not to terminate employment except for "good cause." If an employer expressly or implicitly agrees, orally or in writing, to hire an employee for a specific period, to discharge only for just cause, or to abide by progressive disciplinary procedures, a court may find that agreement to be an enforceable employment contract.

Express contracts—Lawsuits challenging breach-of-express contracts are not limited to high-level executives with formal, written employment agreements or to employees who are covered by union contracts. Courts have permitted individual employees to sue for breach of contract based on informal promises, made orally by managers or others in positions of authority, or the provisions of employee handbooks.

Implied contracts—In cases where no specific promises were made, courts nonetheless sometimes find an implied contract that an employee would not be discharged except for good cause. The wide variety of facts and evidence courts have found relevant in determining if an implied contract exists includes: language in employee handbooks giving employees an initial probationary period; language in disciplinary policies that states employees will be discharged only for particular offenses; language in progressive disciplinary policies that states employees will receive chances to improve their performance; language in handbooks or records that states fairness or special consideration will be given to employees of seniority; an employee's work history that reflects regular merit raises, good performance evaluations, praise, and promotions; the employer's practice of discharging

employees only for good cause; and an industry-wide practice that employees are treated fairly or terminated only for good cause. Many of these factors are present at most companies. Therefore, unless employers take affirmative steps to declare their employer-at-will status, employment may not truly be at will.

Covenant of good faith and fair dealing—Courts in several states have held that all employment relationships are contractual in nature and contain an implied promise of good faith and fair dealing. This doctrine holds parties to a contract liable for acting in bad faith to deprive the other party of the benefits of the agreement. Good faith and fair dealing cases often involve abusive and highly offensive discharges, such as terminating an employee to avoid paying a sales commission, retaliation for refusing to become romantically involved with a supervisor, or retaliation for publicizing wrongdoing by the employer.

Damages for breach of contract typically attempt to put the employee in the same position, and no better, than he or she would have been if the contract had not been breached.

Tort Claims

Promissory Estoppel

Promissory estoppel claims enforce promises in the absence of a contract. To recover, an employee must prove that the employer made an unambiguous promise, that the employer reasonably expected the employee to rely on the promise, and that he or she in fact reasonably and detrimentally relied on the promise. The employee must also prove that the reliance was detrimental and that injustice can be avoided only by enforcing the promise.

Accepting or continuing employment alone usually is not sufficient reliance to support a claim. Promissory estoppel can, however, arise when an employer offers an applicant a position, the applicant incurs significant expense (such as moving expenses) in reliance of the offer, and the employer then withdraws the offer.

Tortious Interference with Contract

This type of claim alleges that an individual, without privilege to do so, caused a third party not to enter into or continue a business relationship. It typically involves allegations that supervisors or managers interfered with the contractual relationship between employees and their employers. For example, if a supervisor knowingly communicates false information about an employee to higher management that results in the employee's termination, this could, in some jurisdictions, give rise to a tortious interference claim. These claims are often brought against individual co-workers or supervisors.

Invasion of Privacy

Many common-law torts potentially protect employee privacy and may give rise to claims. The three most prevalent theories are intrusion upon seclusion, public disclosure of private facts, and false light.

Intrusion upon seclusion protects employees from intentional intrusions into their private affairs. To establish liability, the employee generally must prove 1) intentional intrusion by the employer on the seclusion or solitude of the employee or the employee's private affairs or concerns and 2) that the intrusion was in a manner that would be highly offensive to a reasonable person. For example, a former employee might bring

a discrimination and invasion-ofprivacy action against her former employer based on invasive questioning by the employer about whether the employee was married and planned to have children. Such claims can also arise when an employer searches an employee's person or property.

Public disclosure of private facts protects employees from public disclosures regarding their private lives. To create liability, the publicity must be highly offensive to a reasonable person, and the subject matter must not be of a legitimate concern to the public. The facts made public do not have to be false to establish this tort. Unauthorized disclosure of medical records is an example of a disclosure that may be the basis for such a claim.

The risk of invasion of privacy liability can be reduced by removing any expectation of privacy. For example, an employer can establish, distribute, and post policies that publicize the fact that personal items, lockers, purses, and automobiles are subject to search. Employers should consider having a login screen for the computer network that reminds users that email is not private and may be read by anyone. Protecting the confidentiality of employee evaluations, medical records, and disciplinary records will also reduce exposure to such claims.

Assault and Battery

Assault and battery claims frequently accompany claims of sexual harassment, or they are brought in connection with drug testing or with employees' being forcibly detained or removed from an employer's premises. Assault is an unlawful attempt to inflict physical injury. The attacker must have intended to threaten or injure the victim, and there must have existed a substantial

certainty that the attacker's conduct would threaten or harm the victim. Battery is a completed assault after physical contact is made. Battery also includes any intentional, unauthorized physical contact. Individual employees and corporations are typically sued together as co-defendants for assault and battery.

False Imprisonment

False imprisonment claims typically arise from the detention of employees suspected of theft or other unlawful behavior. To prevail, an employee must show that he or she was unlawfully detained and was restrained by force from leaving.

Negligence Claims

Negligent hiring—The tort of negligent hiring is an expansion of the "fellow servant rule," under which an employer is required to select employees who will not endanger fellow employees. The modern view stresses the duty to hire and retain competent employees for the benefit of third parties as well as co-workers. The tort is now recognized in almost every state. Generally, an employer may be liable for negligent hiring if 1) the employer knew or should have known that the employee in question was unfit for the position so as to create a danger of harm to third persons, 2) the unfitness was known or should have been known at the time of hiring, and 3) the particular unfitness proximately caused the claimed injury.

To minimize the risk of negligent hiring claims, an employer should assess the nature of various jobs and their relationships to the public and other employees.

Depending on the risks involved in the position, the employer should determine what information is necessary to assess whether an applicant is appropriate for the position. For example, information that includes reference or criminal background checks is appropriate to gather for positions (e.g., security guards) involving security access or the use of potentially dangerous weapons.

Negligent evaluation—This claim takes two forms. One is where an employee who was not evaluated claims that the employer was negligent in not performing a job evaluation, despite a duty to do so. The second is where an evaluation was performed, but the employee alleges that it was done negligently or improperly, and that if the employer had not been negligent, it would have realized that the basis for discipline or discharge was improper. Negligent evaluation claims are not recognized in most states. Nonetheless, poorly completed or forgotten evaluations can give rise to, or be problematic for, defamation, discrimination, or breach-of-contract claims.

Negligent training, retention, and supervision—

Negligent training and supervision claims assert that, had the employer exercised due care in training and supervising an employee, an injury to an employee or third party could have been prevented. Negligent retention claims assert that an employer knew or should have known of problems with an employee that indicated unfitness yet the employer failed to take corrective action. Negligent retention claims frequently involve allegations of sexual harassment, especially when there have been previous complaints against the alleged harasser.

Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress

This type of claim typically arises if the discharge of an employee was carried out in an extremely abusive, degrading, or humiliating manner. Many states do not

recognize these claims in the employment context or may provide relief solely through their workers' compensation statutes. In those states where these claims are recognized, the employer's actions generally must exceed all bounds of decency. Intentional infliction of emotional distress claims frequently accompany claims of overt sexual or racial harassment that results in severe emotional distress to the employee. Emotional distress liability can be reduced by avoiding anger in administering discipline; requiring review of a contemplated disciplinary decision by another supervisor or manager who has no personal bias against the employee; using common sense; and documenting, signing, and dating reports of every critical workplace incident.

Defamation

Defamation claims often arise in connection with claims of wrongful termination or in the context of reference checks for former employees. The claims allege that supervisors or co-workers made unprivileged, injurious, and false statements against an employee. A potential defamation claim could exist, for example, if an employer falsely accused an employee of gross misconduct, theft, embezzlement, or falsification of records; using or abusing drugs; professional incompetence; or having a communicable disease.

Defamatory statements may be oral (slander) or written (libel) and may be communicated to individuals inside or outside the company. Any false, derogatory statement can be the basis of a defamation action. In some states, even a statement made only to the terminated employee may be considered defamation. This could occur if a false reason for termination is placed in the employee's personnel file and if the employee is compelled to

repeat the reason for his or her discharge to prospective employers in searching for a job. This is known as selfcompelled publication.

Most states recognize a company's right to make negative statements about employees to certain persons within the company who have a need to know, and to prospective employers that specifically request information about the employee. A company may lose this right, however, if the affected employee can prove statements were made with a reckless disregard for the truth.

Defamation liability can be minimized by investigating and documenting incidents of employee misconduct thoroughly before imposing discipline, thereby avoiding claims that the employer acted in "reckless disregard of the truth." Employers should also limit disclosure of the reasons for discipline to those with a legitimate need to know. Medical data should always be kept strictly confidential. In most cases, responses to reference checks should be limited to confirming dates of employment and positions held and should be handled by one designated person within the company. There is one exception to this general rule of nondisclosure: If a company knows that a former employee has exhibited violent or dangerous behavior, it may have a duty to disclose this information on request to avoid being sued by employees or customers of the inquiring company.

Fraud and Misrepresentation

To establish a claim for fraud, an employee must prove that the employer made an actual or implied misrepresentation of material fact. General promises of future benefits or statements of pure opinion are not actionable. Common employment-related fraud claims include employer representations that the employee will

be employed for a specific period or that he or she will receive certain benefits. Statements about the future can be a basis for a fraud claim only if the employee proves that, when the statements were made, the employer did not intend to take the promised action. A later breach of promise does not establish the requisite intent. The employer must also intend for the employee to rely on the disputed representation. Moreover, the employee must be ignorant of the truth and justifiably rely, to his or her injury, on the misrepresentation.

Recruiting and Hiring Employees

Before You Begin the Hiring Process

Finding and retaining high-quality, skilled workers is of tremendous importance to employers because of the high costs associated with employee turnover and the increasing legal liability for negligent hiring practices and wrongful termination. These factors mandate that employers effectively identify qualified, honest, dependable, skilled, and motivated applicants who are likely to be highly productive.

Federal and state employment discrimination laws impose responsibilities and liabilities on employers in the recruiting and hiring process. As a result, employers should consider preparing thorough and thoughtful written job descriptions that establish the essential job functions. This way, employers and courts can determine, for example, whether a disabled individual is "otherwise qualified" under the ADA, and the scope of the employer's duty to reasonably accommodate.

All aspects of interviewing and recruiting are regulated by employment laws. Many statutes aim to prevent job offer decisions based on illegal criteria. These laws also prevent management personnel conducting interviews from applying arbitrary or irrelevant hiring criteria that intentionally or unintentionally screen out members of any protected group. Importantly, the law presumes that all questions asked on an application or during a personal interview will be used in the hiring decision. Questions that are not job-related may create evidence of discrimination. Accordingly, employers should design the application and interview process so that applicants

are asked only legitimately job-related questions. Employers should also ask the same or similar job-related questions to all applicants in order to ensure consistency.

Employers must avoid even the appearance of unlawful discrimination by avoiding inquiries that may identify an applicant's age, sex, disability, membership in a minority group, or other protected status under applicable laws. One of the best ways to avoid liability is to consider the purpose of each inquiry and then narrowly tailor the inquiry to meet that purpose. Specifically, employers should focus their inquiries on the particular requirements for the job in question and ask questions designed to elicit whether the applicant has the physical, technical and behavioral skills necessary for the job.

Establish or update job descriptions. Job descriptions give applicants a clear understanding of the nature of the position and its requirements. They establish requirements for the job that can be used to objectively screen applicants and avoid charges of discrimination. Job descriptions should emphasize objective requirements such as job-related education/licensure, job-related work experience, and demonstrated ability to perform particular aspects of the job.

Job descriptions are also evidence of "essential job functions," which are used in analyzing whether a disabled individual is "otherwise qualified" for the position under the ADA. "Essential job functions" are tasks that are fundamental, basic, or integral to the job, as opposed to aspects of the job that are incidental, minimal, or marginal. An individual is generally "otherwise qualified" for a position under the ADA only if the individual can perform the "essential job functions" with or without a reasonable accommodation. If an individual is not "otherwise qualified" for the

position, then the employer does not have any duty to accommodate the individual.

Caution: Absolute requirements (such as test scores and diploma requirements) are suspect if they screen out minorities and women on a disproportionate basis or if they screen out otherwise qualified individuals with disabilities. To the extent any such requirements are imposed, they should be narrowly tailored to the job requirements of the position.

Develop a policy regarding acceptance and retention of applications. Such a policy can minimize an employer's exposure to failure-to-hire claims. A good policy, communicated to management personnel, can also eliminate wasted managerial time. At minimum, the policy should require applications to be retained for one year from the date of receipt or date of the employment decision, whichever is later, to comply with record-keeping requirements imposed by the EEOC.

Require all applicants to complete an application

form. This allows managers to collect necessary, comparable information on all candidates and allows human resources to accurately track applicant flow. By reviewing an organization's applicant flow, management can verify its fulfillment of equal employment opportunity (EEO) obligations and conduct internal analyss of recruiting strategies. Lastly, written applications give employers written representations of an applicant's experience and qualifications. An applicant's false information, later discovered, may be a basis for dismissal and may limit damages in the event of litigation.

Employment Applications

Legal items–Every application should state that the employer is an EEO employer and will not discriminate in any phase of employment. The application should also state that the application is not an offer of employment and that any employment with the company is on an at-will basis (meaning the employee or employer can terminate the employment relationship at any time for any lawful reason). The applicant should be required to acknowledge these statements. The latter is known as an at-will employment acknowledgement, and it helps prevent later claims by employees for breach of an employment contract. To prevent the inadvertent creation of a contract by statements made during the hiring process, the application form also should notify applicants that managerial personnel do not have the right or authority to enter into an employment agreement for anything other than an at-will type arrangement. This will help to create a defense mechanism against claims of breach of oral employment contracts.

An application should also contain a section allowing the employer to contact former employers and references and for the applicant to provide written consent and release of liability. This section should state that the applicant releases the employer and its managerial personnel from any liability resulting from obtaining, using, or disclosing the background information at a later date.

Lastly, the application should include a "truth clause"—a certification by the applicant that all information and answers provided are true, along with an acknowledgment by the applicant that denial of employment or, if hired, termination of employment may occur if false information was given. The truth clause is

used to combat the all-too-common problem of résumé and application fraud and is an effective weapon for management in employment discrimination cases.

General information—Applications should elicit information necessary for the employer to determine the applicant's qualifications, including name, address, telephone number; whether the applicant is authorized to work in the United States; the position(s) applied for (or desired) and availability to work; jobrelated ability and skills; educational background; employment history; licenses (if applicable); and prior discipline or discharges for making threats, fighting, or participating in any incidents involving violence.

Areas for caution—The ADA prohibits certain questions on job applications. Any inquiries on job applications regarding an applicant's health, disabilities, and past history of workers' compensation claims are absolutely prohibited under the ADA.

Questions concerning criminal background information that ask applicants whether they have been arrested or convicted are also risky. Use of arrest records to disqualify applicants, without proof of a business necessity, may constitute unlawful discrimination because members of some protected groups are arrested proportionately more often than members of nonprotected groups. In April 2012, the EEOC issued an Enforcement Guidance on the Consideration of Arrest and Conviction Records in Employment Decisions Under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, which recommends that employers not ask about convictions on applications and that any inquiries be limited to those that are job-related. The Guidance also makes clear that the use of arrest records is not "job related or consistent with business necessity." While the EEOC Guidance is merely guidance, employers should

consider abiding by it to avoid costly investigations or legal challenges. In addition to the EEOC Guidance at the federal level, several state laws limit the use of arrest and conviction records by employers. These range from laws prohibiting the employer from asking the applicant any questions about arrest records to those restricting the employer's use of conviction data in making an employment decision.

Certain states, including Arkansas, California, Colorado, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, Massachusetts, Michigan, Rhode Island, Virginia, West Virginia, and Wisconsin, explicitly prohibit and/or severely restrict employers from asking applicants about their arrest records. Other states, such as Connecticut, Georgia, Iowa, Missouri, Texas, and Washington, limit an employer's ability to obtain arrest records by requiring the employer to secure the applicant's consent and then limiting access to such records to human resources personnel. An applicant's conviction(s) may determine the applicant's fitness for a position. Employers, however, should not use convictions as an absolute bar to employment.

Indeed, the EEOC Guidance recommends that employers exclude an applicant based on criminal background only after making an "individualized assessment" and analyzing a variety of factors concerning the particular conviction and the nature of the job sought. Some states, however, including Hawaii, New York, Ohio, Pennsylvania, and Wisconsin, prohibit employers from taking adverse employment action (such as refusing to hire) against an individual based on a conviction unless the conviction is for a felony or is job-related. Even certain local governments, including Newark, N.J., have passed ordinances severely restricting employers' use of criminal background information.

Questions about military discharges can also be risky. Insisting on honorable discharges may violate antidiscrimination laws. Because members of some protected groups have had a higher proportion of general and undesirable military discharges than nonprotected members of similar aptitude and education, requiring applicants who are former members of the armed services to have been honorably discharged may have a disparate effect on some protected groups and thus violate Title VII. Rather than absolutely requiring of an honorable discharge, employers should consider all the pertinent circumstances surrounding a military discharge and explain this policy to applicants.

Height and weight requirements that disproportionately screen out women (or members of other protected groups) are also illegal, unless the employer can demonstrate that these standards are essential to the safe performance of the job in question.

Although Title VII does not specifically prohibit pre-employment inquiries regarding marital status, pregnancy, future childbearing plans, and the number and age of children, such questions may constitute evidence of sex discrimination. This is particularly true when such questions are asked only of women. Some jurisdictions, such as Alaska, California, Connecticut, Delaware, the District of Columbia, Florida, Hawaii, Illinois, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Montana, Nebraska, New Jersey, New Hampshire, New Mexico, New York, North Dakota, Oregon, Virginia, Washington, and Wisconsin, specifically prohibit discrimination on the basis of marital status. An inquiry about an applicant's maiden name may also be used as evidence of discrimination on the basis of marital status.

Management should accept job applications only from individuals who complete the company's designated job application form. The written safeguards and protections in the application form are useless if management personnel fail to consistently and uniformly require all applicants to fill it out before being considered for possible hiring.

Employers should be wary of using social media for recruiting or place strict limits on how such information is used. Social media, such as Facebook, LinkedIn or Twitter, may give the employer easy access to information that it should not consider in the hiring process (e.g., age, race, etc.)

Job Interviews

An interview provides the employer with an opportunity to observe and evaluate the applicant face-to-face and to review information relating to both the job and to the individual's application and/or résumé. Because federal and state statutes directly and indirectly limit the types of questions that can be asked of applicants during job interviews, personnel who are involved in the interviewing process must be trained so that they know the various legal pitfalls that could result from an inappropriate interview. These legal prohibitions are primarily designed to protect applicants from discrimination. To minimize legal exposure during the interviewing process, interviewers should develop specific questions for applicants prior to interviews. These questions should be carefully designed to elicit information regarding the skills, experiences, and other qualifications required for the position (and presumably listed in the job description). The interviewer should review the essential functions and basic requirements

of the job with the applicant and then discuss the applicant's experience, qualifications, and interests. There are many ways to ask appropriate questions and elicit a candidate's qualifications and ability to perform job-related functions.

Examples of acceptable interview questions include:

- Why did you leave your last job?
- Why do you want to work for this organization?
- Have you ever been asked to leave a position?
- What irritates you about co-workers? Supervisors?
- Why do you think you would do well at this job?
- Are you willing to work overtime? Nights? Weekends?
- Tell me about a time when you helped resolve a dispute between others.
- What has been your biggest professional disappointment?

If possible, more than one interviewer should speak with the applicant, either in multiple interviews or in a single interview. This will not only promote objectivity in the selection process, but also elicit more complete information about the applicant, as one interviewer may pick up an area that another misses, and vice versa.

Issues under Title VII and the ADEA—All interviewers should ask only job-related questions and avoid too much personal small talk that can cause digression into potentially risky areas. The table on the following page identifies some examples of proper and improper questions about the same subject matter under both Title VII and the ADEA:

Proper Question	Improper Question
If employed, can you submit verification of your right to work in the United States?	Were you born in the United States?
Our business often involves tight deadlines and last minute emergencies, requiring unexpected overtime work. Will you be able to work evenings and weekends if your assistance is needed on an emergency project?	Will you have any problem working evenings and weekends on account of any family or child-rearing responsibilities?
How did you become interested in retail sales?	What do your parents do for a living?
What type of training did you receive in the Marine Corps?	Did you receive an honorable discharge from military service?
How long have you resided in this area?	Do you own or lease your residence?

Pre-employment obligations and inquiries addressed by the ADA-Under the ADA, an applicant may be entitled to a reasonable accommodation during the hiring process. If the employer has reason to believe that an applicant requires such an accommodation, or if the applicant asks for a reasonable accommodation in the hiring process, the employer may have to accommodate the individual. For instance, if an applicant is blind, the employer may have to alter the format of a written pre-employment test. However, if the employer is testing eyesight because it is necessary for the essential functions of a job, the employer need not alter the format of its test. Additionally, employers should make sure interview sites are easily accessible and contain no barriers that would hinder a person with a disability. This includes restrooms, parking areas, routes of ingress and egress, interior routes in the employer's premises, and interviewing rooms. Employers must provide wheelchair-accessible interview sites.

Under the ADA, employers may ask for certain information, such as whether an applicant can perform a specific job function, with or without a reasonable accommodation; whether an applicant can meet an employer's attendance/work-hour requirements; or whether the applicant had an attendance/tardiness problem at a prior employer. If an employer reasonably believes that an applicant will need an accommodation to perform the essential functions of the job, the employer may then ask whether the applicant needs a reasonable accommodation to perform the essential functions of the job and what type of reasonable accommodation would be needed. The employer's reasonable belief may be triggered by observation of a visible disability or, in the case of a nonvisible disability (such as a psychiatric impairment), by an applicant's volunteering information about a disability or the need for an accommodation.

The ADA, however, prohibits any type of oral interview question or written inquiry that might prompt an applicant to disclose the existence, nature, or severity of a disability. The ADA applies to interviews of all applicants, and not just to applicants with disabilities. Some courts have even held that an applicant who does not have a disability may still challenge an employer's unlawful disability-related inquires, such as questions about an applicant's health, disabilities, and past history of workers' compensation claims. The EEOC, which enforces the ADA, regards the following questions as likely to elicit information about a disability, and therefore illegal to ask in a job interview:

- Do you have a disability?
- Have you ever been injured on the job?
- How many days were you sick last year?
- Have you ever been treated for mental health problems?

- Have you ever been treated for epilepsy, AIDS, HIV-infection, cancer, or heart disease?
- What medications are you currently taking?
- What is your history of filing workers' compensation claims against previous employers?
- Do you have any health-related problems that may impair your ability to perform the job?
- Do you need a reasonable accommodation?

Although some subjects are obviously taboo under the ADA, a manager can ask about particular subject matters in an appropriate manner. The table below contains examples of proper and improper questions about the same subject matter under the ADA:

Proper Question	Improper Question
The position you have applied for requires driving a vehicle in the evening. Can you drive at night?	Do you suffer from night blindness or some other visual impairment that prevents you from driving at night?
The position you have applied for requires frequent lifting of 25-pound barrels on a loading dock. Can you carry 25 pounds for 10 yards on approximately an hourly basis every workday?	Do you have a physical problem that would prevent you from carrying 25 pounds for 10 yards on approximately an hourly basis every workday?
The position you have applied for requires considerable travel. Can you travel on a regular basis?	Do you have a physical or mental impairment that might prevent you from traveling on a regular basis?
This is a demanding job you have applied for at the company. How well can you handle stress?	Have you ever sought treatment for an inability to handle stress?

A final consideration for hiring is language proficiency. Managers are often surprised to learn that English language proficiency can be an unlawful hiring criterion. A ban on hiring applicants who cannot speak or write fluent English may constitute national origin discrimination unless the rule is justified by business necessity. Management personnel must be aware of the job requirements of any position for which an applicant is applying. If the job requires English language proficiency, then and only then should this be a hiring criterion.

Interviewer notes—Any documentation or notes compiled during an interview should be separate from the application/résumé and should focus on job-related information learned during the interview. Interviewers should never note an applicant's race, age, national origin, etc., or use a code/symbol for any of these categories. Racial identification and tracking of job applicants for affirmative action, EEO reporting, and record-keeping purposes should be done by visual identification or voluntary self-identification on a separate form. Hiring decision-makers should be screened from this information. Notations concerning an applicant's race or color should never be made on a résumé or application form.

Investigating Candidates for Employment: Reference, Credit and Background Checks

Employers have an obvious need to investigate the qualifications, job abilities, and trustworthiness of potential employees. Competing with the employer's need for information, however, is the applicant's right to privacy. An employer's failure to adequately investigate a prospective employee may lead to liability for

negligent hiring. However, an overreaching background investigation may lead to employer liability for invasion of privacy or other federal or state violations. Privacy issues are implicated in response to the following types of employer investigations: reference checks, credit checks, and background checks.

Reference checks—Employers typically verify references to determine whether an applicant engaged in misconduct or dishonest behavior at previous jobs and to determine whether the applicant exhibits positive traits such as dependability and responsibility. The failure to check references can also be a significant factor in a negligent hiring case. Nevertheless, employers should exercise caution in reference checking. The risks for verifying references include discrimination claims, invasion of privacy and defamation claims, and interference with contract claims.

To avoid liability, the employer should obtain the applicant's written consent before checking references. The written consent should authorize the prospective employer to check the applicant's references and should require the applicant to affirm that he or she releases the prospective employer from any liability in connection with the reference check. An employer should also consider having the applicant release the persons providing the references (the referrers) from liability. The employer may then inform the referrers of this release when it checks references, which may encourage them to be more candid.

Employers should also use caution when they give references. Providing information other than name, position, and dates of employment may subject an employer to lawsuits for defamation, invasion of privacy, etc. Many state laws, however, now provide

limited protection to employers supplying references by providing employers with a rebuttable good-faith presumption. In such states, in order to prevail on a claim against an employer, an employee must prove that the employer abused its privilege by supplying the reference with malice, i.e., with spite or ill will or, depending on the state, with knowledge of its falsity or reckless disregard for the truth of the statement.

Credit and background checks—Both credit checks and general investigative background checks are governed primarily by the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), a federal statute. In addition, employers should be especially wary about privacy issues when conducting investigative checks, particularly when seeking information about the applicant's or employee's personal life, general reputation, etc. Although FCRA requirements have been met, an employer may still be exposed to liability for nonstatutory claims, such as invasion of privacy, defamation, or intentional infliction of emotional distress if it seeks non-jobrelated information through a background check. As a result, an employer should seek such information only when needed for security or other business reasons. Background checks must also be conducted equally for all applicants and employees. Conducting more rigorous background checks for certain employees may expose an employer to discrimination claims.

The Consumer Credit Reporting Act of 1996 amended the FCRA to significantly expand employer obligations with respect to disclosing and obtaining applicant consent to investigations. The FCRA governs two types of reports:

• Consumer reports: Any written, oral, or other form of information provided by a "consumer reporting agency" (CRA), which addresses creditworthiness,

credit standing, or credit capacity, character, general reputation, personal characteristics, or mode of living, and

Investigative consumer reports: Consumer reports
or portions thereof in which information on an
individual's character, general reputation, or mode
of living is obtained through personal interviews
with neighbors, friends, associates, or others with
whom the individual is acquainted or who may have
knowledge regarding the information sought.

An employer that wishes to order either type of report on an applicant or employee must give the individual a written statement disclosing that a report may be obtained and obtain the individual's written authorization and release. Investigative consumer reports require an additional disclosure describing the information that may be obtained. The statute imposes other specific requirements for a valid disclosure.

Before taking any adverse employment action based on a consumer report (e.g., refusing to hire a person or denying a promotion to a current employee), the employer must give the individual a copy of the consumer report and a written description of the applicant's or employee's rights under the FCRA.

In addition, after taking an adverse employment action based on a consumer report, the employer must provide the applicant or employee with notice of the adverse action; the name, address, and telephone number of the CRA (including a toll-free number for nationwide CRAs); a statement that the CRA did not make the adverse action decision and is unable to provide the applicant or employee with specific reasons as to why the adverse action was taken; and notice of the applicant's or employee's right to obtain a free copy of the consumer

report from the CRA within 60 days and dispute the accuracy of any information in the report.

State or federal actions and private lawsuits are available to enforce compliance with the FCRA. Further, any person who knowingly and willfully obtains a consumer report under false pretenses may face criminal prosecution.

Congress recently amended the FCRA to largely exclude third-party investigators from the statutory reporting obligations. Effective January 1, 2004, the FCRA was amended to exclude from its requirements communications from outside consultants, including attorneys, made to employers in connection with an investigation of 1) suspected misconduct relating to employment or 2) compliance with federal, state, or local laws and regulations; the rules of a self-regulatory organization; or any preexisting written policies of the employer. An investigation involving information relating to an individual's credit worthiness, credit standing, or credit capacity is, however, still subject to the FCRA's notice and consent provisions.

In exchange for not having to give prior notice of, and get consent for, workplace misconduct investigations, the FCRA as amended does impose certain requirements. First, any workplace investigation report can be disclosed only to the employer; federal, state, or local agencies; officers of departments; any organization with regulatory authority over the employer; or as otherwise required by law. Of course, most employers would so limit any disclosure of such a report due to fear of liability for libel and slander. Additionally, if an employer takes adverse action based in whole or part on the report, the employer must disclose to the target employee of the investigation a summary of the communications on

which the adverse action is based. The summary must include the nature and substance of the communications, but need not include sources of information, such as the identity of individuals who were interviewed.

In addition to federal law, some states restrict background checks. California and New York, for example, prohibit employers from obtaining information about an applicant's arrests if an arrest did not result in a conviction. Other states prohibit credit reporting agencies from reporting arrests or convictions that are more than seven years old. Thus, an employer must be careful in such states to specify that it does not want information on such arrests included in any investigative reports.

Hiring an Applicant

The actual hiring decision should be made by, or subject to, the approval of more than one specified person. Higher levels of management and/or human resource managers should scrutinize hiring recommendations and require explanations and justifications for the decision. Any discrepancies between the recommendation and qualifications required for the position should be questioned, as should vague or inconsistent justifications. The recommending supervisor should also be required to justify the preferred candidate's selection over other finalists or candidates who were interviewed. If the manager's decision cannot withstand the employer's internal scrutiny, the decision most likely will not be able to withstand challenge by a plaintiff's attorney or a court.

Offer letters—An employer should provide a written offer of employment that specifies the terms of employment agreed to by the employer and the

prospective employee. The offer letter should outline the particular position and start date and should also set forth a salary and describe any benefits (at least in general terms). When writing an offer letter, take care to ensure that no promises of continued employment are made that might inhibit the employer's ability to dismiss the individual. For example, the offer letter should never offer "permanent" employment or indicate that the individual will "always have a job with ABC Company." Rather, the offer letter should mention that employment is "at-will." Offer letters should be reviewed by an experienced human resources professional or attorney.

Employment agreements—In addition to providing a clear offer letter, an employer may wish to use a written employment agreement. Common employment agreement provisions range from general restrictions to clauses providing for mandatory arbitration of employment-related disputes. Many employers also use employment agreements for professionals or executives to define the terms and conditions of employment, including job duties, termination rights, length of employment, compensation, and benefits. Depending on how they are written, these agreements may or may not modify the presumption of an employmentat-will relationship. Any employment agreement must be carefully drafted to ensure it is enforceable and does not create contractual rights and obligations that the employer is not willing to meet. A poorly drafted employment agreement may create more problems for the employer than having no agreement at all. Accordingly, any written employment agreement should be reviewed by an experienced attorney.

Immigration Considerations

Form I-9—New employees and the employer must complete a Form I-9, which is sworn under penalty of perjury. The employee must attest that he or she is authorized to work in the United States and the employer must attest that it has reviewed the documentation supplied by the employee and that it appears genuine. An employer does not guarantee that the documents provided by the employee are genuine but merely attests that it has examined the employee's documents and they appear to be in order. Form I-9 must be completely filled out; merely attaching photocopies of the documents is not acceptable. Do not employ someone who refuses to sign the form. E-Verify, an Internet-based system provided by the federal government, allows businesses to determine the eligibility of their employees to work in the United States. Using E-Verify can provide employers additional peace of mind by instantly verifying work eligibility.

The Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 (IRCA) has placed private employers in the role of policing the federal government's immigration policies. IRCA prohibits any employment of illegal or unauthorized aliens and, accordingly, requires all employers to verify the identity and employment authorization of every new employee. The statutory provisions and regulations governing the "employment verification" process are quite complex, and the Act imposes extensive record-keeping requirements on employers.

In addition to prohibiting employment of unauthorized aliens, IRCA prohibits all employers with four or more employees from discriminating against an individual based on his or her citizenship or national origin in hiring, discharge, recruitment, or referral for a fee. An

employer should ask only what is necessary to determine whether an individual is authorized to work in the United States and should avoid questions concerning an applicant's national origin, birthplace, or citizenship.

IRCA is administered by the U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Service (USCIS), but the Act's nondiscrimination provisions are enforced by a "Special Counsel" within the Justice Department. The nondiscrimination provisions remain largely untested. A charge must be filed within 180 days, and plaintiffs can recover back wages and benefits, reinstatement, civil penalties, attorneys' fees, and equitable relief.

Employee and Applicant Testing

A well-defined and thoughtful recruitment and hiring program goes a long way toward identifying the best candidates for an employer's workforce. Some employers, seeking added assurance that their employees will be honest, responsible, and able to do the work, seek to test applicants and employees. While some tests provide useful data, employee and applicant testing is a highly regulated and often problematic area. A sampling of applicable regulations follows.

Medical Testing (ADA Limitations)

Under the ADA, a medical examination may be given only after an offer of employment has been made. The offer may be conditioned upon successfully passing the exam. The EEOC's Enforcement Guidance on Preemployment Inquiries defines "medical examination" to be "a procedure or test that seeks information about an individual's physical or mental impairments or health." Physical agility tests, physical fitness tests, and tests for the illegal use of drugs are not considered medical examinations and may be given at the pre-offer stage.

If a test screens out an applicant on the basis of a disability, however, the test may violate the ADA unless it is job-related and consistent with business necessity. In the ADA context, this standard requires that tests or medical inquiries be directly related to the performance of essential job functions. Furthermore, if an employer measures an applicant's physiological or biological response during a physical fitness test, the test is considered a medical examination under the ADA and is prohibited at the pre-offer stage.

For example, if required by business necessity, a messenger service may test its applicants to ensure that they can travel a mile in under 15 minutes, but cannot measure the applicants' heart rates at the completion of the test—that would make it an ADA-regulated medical examination.

An employer may test for illegal drug use at the pre-offer stage but may not give applicants an alcohol test or other test for legal drug use at the pre-offer stage. However, the EEOC has indicated some flexibility in allowing drug and alcohol screening (combined) at the pre-offer stage.

At the post-offer, pre-hire stage, an employer may give applicants a wideranging medical examination. If such exams are given, they must be given to all offerees in the same job category. Importantly, if an offer of employment is withdrawn because of the results of a post-offer medical examination, the reason the individual is rejected must not be one that screens out individuals with disabilities, unless the reason is job-related and consistent with business necessity. The employer must also demonstrate that there is no reasonable accommodation that would permit the individual to perform the essential functions of the job.

The ADA regulates medical testing of current employees under a different standard. Once an employee has begun working, an employer cannot require a medical examination "unless such examination is shown to be job-related and consistent with business necessity." Courts generally hold that return-towork and post-accident exams satisfy this standard, provided they are narrowly tailored to assess the employee's ability to perform essential job functions.

Information obtained as part of a medical examination must be kept in a secure separate file and treated as a confidential medical record for purposes of the ADA. An employee's medical records may not be kept in that employee's general personnel file.

Most states have disability discrimination laws that largely parallel the ADA with regard to medical inquiries and testing. The remedies available under some state's laws are less favorable for the individual than under the ADA. Conversely, in a few states, such as Massachusetts, the state law affords disabled complainants unlimited punitive damages. Thus, companies assessing risk in connection with medical exams or inquiries must be aware of the legal particulars of the state(s) in which they have employees.

Drug and Alcohol Testing

Because drug testing is full of potential legal pitfalls, it is highly recommended that all employers consult with counsel before implementing any drug-testing program. Among the potential restrictions on drug and alcohol testing are the following.

- U.S. constitutional protections—The Fourth Amendment protections against unreasonable searches and seizures protect government employees against drug testing. The Fourth Amendment does not apply to private sector employees.
- State constitutional issues—In addition to mirroring federal constitutional protections, the California constitution has been interpreted by California courts to apply to both government and private sector employees.

- Collective bargaining issues

 —In union-represented workforces, an employer is required to bargain over the implementation of drug testing for existing employees. However, a unionized employer need not bargain over drug testing for applicants.
- State statutes—State statutes may limit circumstances or impose requirements on pre-employment drug testing. Employers should have their counsel review any proposed policy for compliance with these laws.
- ADA—Under the ADA, employers may test preemployment for the illegal use of drugs. Individuals
 who are currently engaged in the illegal use of drugs
 are not protected under the ADA. Alcohol, however,
 is not an illegal drug, and testing for alcohol is
 considered a medical examination for purposes of the
 ADA. Similarly, drug tests that detect the lawful use of
 drugs are medical examinations regulated under the
 ADA. In addition, individuals who have used illegal
 drugs in the past, but are not currently using them,
 may be protected.
- Other considerations—All results of drug tests must be kept strictly confidential to minimize potential liability for defamation and invasion of privacy. Employers should obtain releases from all employees and applicants being tested to protect against any liability that could result from the testing or reporting of the test results. Employers should have their drug policies written and reviewed by counsel in advance of any testing. These policies should define under what circumstances (e.g., what level of intoxication) an employee or applicant will be disciplined or rejected. A reputable laboratory should be chosen to conduct the testing. Some states require certain testing procedures and specific tests for false positives. Employers should select laboratories that can perform the required tests.

Psychological and Personality Tests

Disability discrimination—Psychological and honesty testing raises issues under the ADA. There is no clearcut rule for whether psychological tests are considered medical examinations for purposes of the ADA. Such tests will be considered medical to the extent that they provide information that could enable an employer to identify a medical disorder or impairment. Moreover, to the extent such tests screen out people with mental disabilities, ADA liability could result unless an employer establishes a business necessity. In order for the ADA to apply, the impairment must "substantially limit" one or more major life activities of the individual. An employer may refuse to hire someone based on his or her history of violence or threats of violence if, based on an individualized assessment of the individual's present ability to safely perform the functions of the job, the employer can show that the individual poses a "direct threat."

Privacy issues—Psychological and integrity or honesty testing may also raise privacy issues. This is particularly true in states, such as California that recognize a state constitutional right to privacy. Some of the test questions may be particularly invasive. If an employer decides to conduct such testing, it should ensure that the testing is job-related.

Discrimination issues—If the test has an adverse impact on a protected class, an employer will have to validate and defend the test by showing that it correlates to job performance in some way. Even if an employer hires an outside agency to do the testing or purchases the test from an outside agency, the employer will still be the party responsible for the validation.

State law—Some states, such as Massachusetts and Rhode Island, specifically regulate pen-and-paper honesty tests. Thus, employers should have counsel review their testing procedures for compliance with state law before adopting any such testing procedures.

"Lie Detector" or Polygraph Tests

The Employee Polygraph Protection Act of 1988 (EPPA) prohibits an employer's use of polygraph testing in the hiring process in most situations. The EPPA further prohibits an employer from disciplining, discharging, or discriminating against any employee or applicant for refusing to take a polygraph test, based on the results of a polygraph test, or for taking any actions to preserve rights under the Act.

The EPPA contains certain exceptions to the general ban on polygraph testing: security guard firms may test prospective employees; employers that manufacture, distribute, or dispense controlled substances may use polygraph tests; and a covered employer may test current employees who are suspects of an "ongoing investigation." For this latter exception to apply, the employer must be engaged in an ongoing investigation involving economic loss or injury to the employer's business, establish that the suspected employee has "access" to the property at issue, have "reasonable suspicion" that the employee was involved in the incident, provide the employee a pre-test statement that thoroughly explains the incident that triggered the investigation and the basis for testing the employee, and retain a copy of all such statements for a minimum of three years.

Many states also have laws that regulate or prohibit polygraph testing. For example, California and Massachusetts prohibit employers from requiring

applicants or employees to take a polygraph test as a condition of employment or continued employment. Wisconsin does the same, except for a narrow range of exceptions, such as security and armored car personnel. Other states, such as Virginia, allow polygraphs but prohibit employers from asking questions concerning an individual's sexual activities.

HIV Testing

The ADA severely restricts HIV testing of applicants. Both HIV and AIDS have been held by the U.S. Supreme Court to be disabilities. Accordingly, HIV/AIDS testing is generally a prohibited medical examination. Any attempt to reject an applicant as a result of HIV-related information obtained from a post-offer medical examination must be justified as job-related and

Rules for Claims of Sexual Harassment

As a result of two 1998 decisions of the U.S. Supreme Court (Burlington Industries, Inc. v. Ellerth and Faragher v. City of Boca Raton), an employer's efforts at preventing and correcting sexual harassment are now key to defending sexual harassment claims. Under the rule of these decisions:

- An employer that does not have a disseminated sexual harassment policy with a complaint procedure will automatically be liable for sexual harassment by its supervisors.
- An employer with a disseminated sexual harassment policy and a complaint procedure, however, will have an affirmative defense against claims of sexual harassment by its supervisors if the harassment did not result in a "tangible"

- employment action" (the employee being fired, demoted, caused to lose benefits, etc.) and if the employee unreasonably failed to use the complaint procedure.
- An employer will be vicariously liable for sexual harassment by supervisors, regardless of the existence of a sexual harassment policy, if the harassment results in a tangible employment action.
- Under the Supreme Court's 2004 decision in Pennsylvania State Police v. Suders, the Ellerth/ Faragher affirmative defense is not available when a supervisor's official act precipitates the constructive discharge; that is, when the working environment becomes so intolerable that a reasonable person would feel compelled to resign
- An employer will be liable for sexual harassment by nonsupervisors (coworkers, customers, vendors, and independent contractors) based on a negligence standard that the employer "knew or should have known" of the harassment.
- Although not explicitly stated by the Court, it appears that employers may be vicariously liable for all harassing conduct by the highest-level managers, regardless of whether the employer has a disseminated harassment policy and complaint procedure, whether the conduct resulted in tangible job detriment or whether the employee complained of the conduct.
- The complaint procedure should provide alternative avenues of complaint so that the victim is not forced to complain first to his or her supervisor, who may be the very one committing the harassment.

consistent with business necessity. This is rarely the case because HIV and AIDS are generally considered to be non-job-related disabilities unless they substantially limit an employee's ability to perform the essential functions of the job or pose a direct threat to the safety or health of individuals in the workplace. The few court decisions to recognize a direct threat in the HIV/AIDS context have involved health professionals performing invasive procedures or otherwise at risk of direct contact with bodily fluids (typically blood).

To reject an applicant or discharge an employee based on AIDS or HIV, the employer also must be able to establish that job-related limitations posed by the disability on the individual's essential job functions could not be addressed through a reasonable accommodation.

Some states, including Florida, Hawaii, Maine, Massachusetts, New Mexico, Ohio, Rhode Island, Vermont, Washington, and Wisconsin, generally prohibit employers from requiring HIV tests as a condition of employment. Other states, such as California, Delaware, Illinois, Iowa, New Jersey, New York, and West Virginia, have special laws imposing confidentiality requirements on HIV tests and records. Numerous municipalities, including Austin (Texas), Detroit, Los Angeles, and San Francisco, also have ordinances that restrict HIV testing or otherwise prohibit considering HIV status in employment.

Performance and Aptitude Tests

These tests are designed to identify those candidates most likely to succeed on the job by determining an applicant's mastery of the skills required for the particular job. Typically, these tests measure an

applicant's mental ability, job knowledge, simulated job performance, agility, strength or motivation in an attempt to predict job performance. Such tests are generally permissible but should be used with caution and only if they are job-related. Often, the problem with these tests is that they have an adverse impact; i.e., they screen out individuals in protected groups, such as females, minorities, or the disabled, in greater proportion than those in other groups (e.g., white males). According to the EEOC, a selection rate for any race, sex, or ethnic group that is less than four-fifths (or 80%) of the rate for the group with the highest rate will generally be regarded as evidence of an adverse impact.

If a test is shown to have an adverse impact on a particular group, the employer must "validate" the test by establishing that it is a neutral predictor of job performance and that the criteria used in the test are related to the qualifications for the job. An employer must also show that it considered alternative selection procedures that have less or no adverse impact.

Fingerprinting

At least one state (California) prohibits fingerprinting of employees. Even in those states that do not explicitly prohibit fingerprinting, the practice has been challenged as an invasion of privacy. For example, Illinois regulates (but does not prohibit) the collection and use of biometric information, including fingerprints.

Genetic Testing

The Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008 (GINA) makes it unlawful to discriminate against employees or applicants based on genetic information. Genetic information includes information about an individual's genetics; the fact that an individual received a genetic test; the genetic tests of an individual's family members; and information about any disease, disorder or condition of an individual's family members. Many states likewise prohibit using genetic information in employment decisions.

The Prohibition of Workplace Harassment

Both federal (Title VII) and state law prohibit unwelcome conduct in the workplace that is based on, or motivated by, the victim's membership in a protected class. Although *sexual* harassment cases have been widely publicized, an employer can also be liable for harassment based on *race*, *age*, *disability*, and a variety of other protected characteristics.

In general, there are two types of harassment claims: quid pro quo claims and hostile environment claims.

An example of a quid pro quo claim is when a supervisor says to a subordinate "sleep with me or I will fire you" and the supervisor actually fires the subordinate for failing to comply. With respect to quid pro quo claims, the employer's duty is to ensure that individuals who wield authority do not misuse that authority and to take appropriate steps to protect employees from harm, once the employer knows or should know of the improper conduct.

An example of a hostile environment claim is when male employees subject a female employee to inappropriate jokes, touching, and derogatory comments that have sexual overtones. Simply put, employers have a duty to maintain a reasonably professional working environment and to ensure that employees are not subjected to inappropriate conduct based on their membership in a protected group (e.g., gender, race, disability).

A number of decisions from the U.S. Supreme Court and other courts stress the importance of an employer's efforts to prevent and promptly correct harassing conduct. As discussed below, an appropriate and well-publicized antiharassment policy and an effective response to a report of harassment are keys to minimizing an employer's liability for harassment.

Conduct Prohibited

The law generally prohibits imposing unwanted conditions on a person's employment based on a protected characteristic. With respect to sexual harassment, EEOC guidelines prohibit "unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature... when 1) submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an individual's employment, or 2) submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment decisions affecting such individual, or . . . 3) [such conduct] has the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance or creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive working environment." Any of the following could, if part of a pervasive pattern of abuse, constitute sexual harassment:

- · Explicit demands for sexual favors.
- Sexual-oriented verbal kidding, teasing, or jokes.
- Repeated sexual flirtations, advances, or propositions.
- Continued or repeated verbal abuse of a sexual nature.
- Graphic or degrading comments about an individual or his or her appearance.
- The display of sexually suggestive objects or pictures.
- Subtle pressure for sexual activity.
- Physical contact such as patting, hugging, pinching, or brushing against another's body.

On the other hand, the law does not create a general civility code for the workplace. The Supreme Court has stated that the law "does not reach genuine but innocuous differences in the ways men and women interact with members of the same sex and of the opposite sex. The prohibition of harassment on the basis of sex requires neither asexuality nor androgyny in the workplace; it forbids only behavior that is so objectively offensive as to alter the conditions of the victim's employment." Exchanging pleasantries, engaging in consensual discussions on obviously inoffensive and nonsexual topics, and participating in normal work relations does not constitute harassment.

Protected Groups

Harassment based on sex, race, color, religion, national origin, age, disability, citizenship, genetic information and protests for discriminatory conduct is unlawful under federal law. State laws may prohibit harassment based on additional characteristics or conditions. Employers have been held liable for tolerating continuous racial and ethnic slurs and graffiti in the workplace, for a supervisor making adherence to his religious values a requirement for continued

employment, and for tolerating teasing and pranks directed at a developmentally disabled employee.

Although federal law does not expressly prohibit discrimination or harassment based on sexual orientation, claims can be brought based on harassment by a member of the same sex as long as the victim shows that the conduct occurred because of the victim's gender. Many states, including California, Colorado, Illinois, Maine, Massachusetts, Nevada, New Jersey, New Mexico, and Vermont and the District of Columbia, have enacted laws that expressly protect against discrimination and harassment based on sexual orientation, as well as sexual identity or gender expression. Accordingly, employers' policies should prohibit harassment based on sexual orientation, sexual identity or gender expression.

Employer Liability

Employer liability for harassment differs depending on whether the harasser is a supervisor or a co-worker. Regardless, the keys to minimizing employer liability are the same—an appropriate, well-publicized policy against harassment and an effective response to all reports of harassment.

The Importance of an Appropriate, Well-Publicized Policy Against Harassment

Every employer should have an antiharassment policy that is given to all employees. This ensures that the employer can raise the defense of having exercised reasonable care to prevent and correct harassment. An antiharassment policy should be drafted by experienced counsel and should be reviewed periodically because the law in this area is continually evolving.

An antiharassment policy should include:

- A statement of zero tolerance—Harassment should be prohibited and not be tolerated by anyone. The statement should state that harassment by co-workers, customers, vendors, agents, or any other third parties is forbidden.
- A description of conduct that constitutes harassment, including examples that are specific to the employment setting.
- A complaint procedure—The policy should require employees to promptly report harassing conduct they experience, learn of, or witness. A complaint procedure must allow a complaining employee to bypass an allegedly harassing supervisor to make complaints. Echoing the Supreme Court, the EEOC states that a policy should "be designed to encourage victims of harassment to come forward and should not require a victim to complain first to the offending supervisor." This means that someone with an unbiased relationship with the employees, such as a human resources professional, may be the best person to receive complaints. Also, consider designating people of both sexes to receive complaints. This may make employees more comfortable complaining about sexually offensive behavior. Immediate supervisors may still be designated to receive complaints as long as other accessible alternatives are offered and employees are not required to complain to their supervisors. Depending on the employer's size and resources, it may make sense to provide a hotline through which employees can make complaints confidentially and anonymously. Do not require employees to put their complaints in writing, which may discourage some employees from making complaints. An employer must investigate and remediate claims of harassment

- no matter how it learns of them. Nevertheless, once an employee comes forward with a complaint, it may be appropriate to ask the employee to put the complaint in writing as part of the investigation.
- A statement that the employer will investigate all complaints thoroughly and promptly—This encourages employees to come forward with claims without worry that they will not be believed or that the company will not respond. All claims must be investigated, even if the employer believes the complaint is made in bad faith.
- A statement regarding the confidential nature of the investigation—An employer must not promise absolute confidentiality but confidentiality only to the extent possible. Absolute confidentiality would often preclude an effective investigation. "Confidentiality to the extent possible" means limiting information to those persons with a "need to know" of the complaint or of the investigation. This level of confidentiality allows an employer to reveal the allegations and the investigation information as needed to carry out the investigation, make a determination on the allegations, and take any necessary disciplinary or corrective action.
- A no-retaliation statement—Any employee may complain about harassment without fear of retaliation. Retaliation against any person participating in a harassment investigation is a separate violation of federal and local law. Accordingly, an employer may be held liable for retaliation regardless of whether there was any merit to the underlying harassment complaint. The policy should also provide that retaliation is not tolerated, should be reported, and will be investigated like complaints of harassment.
- A statement that offenders will be subject to corrective action, including discipline, up to and including termination—Harassment policies should be broader than the law requires. In other words, it should be clear that an employer could find a violation of the policy without admitting to any violation of the law.

To be effective, the policy must be disseminated to all employees. Accordingly, employers should consider distributing the antiharassment policy in the following ways:

- Include it in new employee orientation materials.
- Make it a part of the employee handbook.
- Distribute the policy electronically.
- Post the policy in conspicuous places throughout the workplace.
- Distribute it annually using the best method for the employment circumstances.
- Distribute it with paychecks.
- Distribute it as a part of performance reviews.
- Include it in conflict-of-interest agreements.
- Have it appear periodically on the computer network.

Employers should require that employees periodically acknowledge, in writing, their receipt and understanding of the employer's antiharassment policy. The acknowledgment should also provide that the employee promises to contact the human resources department if he or she has any questions about the policy. Ideally, employers should periodically train employees about the policy. Attendance should be mandatory for all employees, including the highestlevel management employees, and attendance should be documented. Again, training should be conducted by experienced professionals who regularly conduct such training sessions.

Several states, including California, Illinois, and Massachusetts, have laws imposing additional, specific requirements on the content and dissemination of sexual harassment policies. California places a special affirmative duty on employers to give their employees information about sexual harassment. The California law

requires 1) that an employer display a poster distributed by the California Department of Fair Employment and Housing that describes the illegality of sexual harassment under state law; 2) that every employer distribute a fact sheet to every employee that describes sexual harassment with examples, sets forth the employer's complaint procedure, and describes the legal remedies available on sexual harassment claims; and 3) that every employer issue a policy prohibiting sexual harassment and other forms of harassment. Despite the strict requirements, compliance with this law is not a defense to claims of sexual harassment. Connecticut law requires that employers with 50 or more employees provide at least two hours of antiharassment training to supervisors. Employers should have counsel review state laws to ensure compliance.

Responding to Reports of Harassment

When an employer has notice of a potential violation of its antiharassment policy, the employer must take prompt remedial action reasonably calculated to end the harassment. This requires the employer to conduct an investigation. Indeed, under EEOC guidelines an employer has a duty to investigate "[w]hen an employer receives a complaint or otherwise learns of alleged sexual harassment in the workplace." Similarly, state statutes often require employers to investigate and remedy sexual harassment. Illinois law holds employers liable for sexual harassment "if the employer becomes aware of the conduct and fails to take reasonable corrective measures." California law holds an employer liable if it "knows or should have known of the conduct and fails to take immediate and corrective action." Persons reporting harassment often request that the person receiving the complaint keep it confidential. Managers must be

trained that they cannot agree to keep such complaints confidential. Generally, an employer can be held to be on notice of potential harassment when it sees or merely hears about inappropriate behavior.

It is often appropriate for an employer to take interim measures to avoid potential harassment during an investigation. Failing to use interim measures, such as a temporary transfer and nondisciplinary leave of absence with pay, to prevent continued serious misconduct before concluding an investigation can increase the risk of liability.

The employer must choose a neutral, objective, and properly trained investigator. Additionally, the person should have a high level of personal integrity, should have the backing of employees and upper-level management, and should have enough time to conduct a thorough investigation. It is important that the investigator be a credible and effective witness should litigation result.

Sometimes employers should select an outside investigator. For example, where a high-level executive is the alleged wrongdoer and there is concern that the company investigator may feel constrained to protect the executive, an outside investigator may be appropriate. An independent fact finder may allay suspicion that the employer's investigation was biased.

Although an investigation must be tailored to the complaint, the following general considerations are important for conducting an effective investigation:

 Locate and preserve the company's antiharassment policy (and any acknowledgment signed by the complainant or accused that he or she read and understood the policy).

- Document exactly when and to whom the first complaint was made. Determine if the complaint was made in accordance with the company's complaint procedure. If the complaint was made to a person other than the persons identified in the policy, determine why the complainant did not follow the policy (this does not necessarily mean that the company will be protected from liability).
- Pin down the complainant's version of the dates of the harassment.
- Always refer to the investigation and the allegations in terms of potential violations of "company policy" and not as violations of the law.
- Do not document the conclusion that unlawful harassment occurred except in the rarest case and then do so only after consulting with counsel.

According to the EEOC, after an investigation, "an employer should take immediate and appropriate corrective action by doing whatever is necessary to end the harassment, make the victim whole by restoring lost employment benefits or opportunities, and prevent the misconduct from recurring." The EEOC further directs that "[d]isciplinary action against the offending supervisor or employee, ranging from reprimand to discharge, may be necessary. Generally, the corrective action should reflect the severity of the conduct." The employer's response to the report of harassment should not disadvantage the person who made the complaint.

If the investigation is inconclusive, the employer should:

 Assure the employee who brought the complaint that, although no finding could be made, the employer intends to protect him or her and all employees against unlawful harassment and retaliation.

- Advise the alleged wrongdoer that, although the truth
 of the claim has not been determined, all employees
 are expected to comply with the company's policies
 against harassment and retaliation and that any future
 policy violations will lead to discipline up to and
 including termination.
- Advise the employee who brought the complaint to immediately bring forth any additional complaints to the employer's attention.
- Consider some nondisciplinary steps, such as republication of the company's discrimination, antiharassment, and workplace violence policies; sensitivity training; or physical relocation of either the complainant or alleged wrongdoer to eliminate interaction (provided that relocation does not diminish duties of either so as to constitute a real or imagined demotion).

Additional Considerations Claims by the Accused Harasser

Alleged harassers have sued employers for defamation, discrimination, wrongful discharge, breach of contract, and negligent investigation following claims of sexual harassment. The best way to avoid such claims is to have an unbiased and well-trained investigator conduct a thorough investigation.

Accused harassers most often claim defamation. An employer's statements made in connection with an investigation of a claim of harassment are typically subject to a "conditional privilege." This means that an employer is liable only if its allegedly defamatory statements were made with actual knowledge that the statements were false or with a reckless disregard for the truth. If an employer conducts a fair and reasonable investigation, this privilege should defeat a claim for defamation.

Off-Premises Harassment

The site of the harassing conduct does not govern an employer's duty to control harassment. If an employer knows, or should know, of work-related conduct that potentially violates its antiharassment policy, the employer must take reasonable steps to ensure that the harasser does not continue the conduct, even if the conduct is occurring off premises. Notice, and not location, is the key consideration.

Employers are responsible for inappropriate conduct at company-sponsored social events. Moreover, if a group of employees goes out for drinks together, and one employee subsequently reports that another employee subjected him or her to unwelcome advances, the employer has a duty to respond to that report and ensure that such conduct does not carry over into the workplace and that the victim is made reasonably comfortable at work. In one case, an employer was held liable for failing to control inappropriate comments made on an electronic message board that was set up, but not controlled, by the employer.

Liability for Harassment by Nonemployees

Employers can be liable for harassing conduct by a third party, such as a customer or a vendor. If an employer knows, or should know, that an employee is enduring inappropriate conduct by a third party, the employer must take reasonable steps to stop the inappropriate conduct. For example, if a customer made inappropriate remarks to an employee, the employer should ensure that the employee does not have to deal with the customer in the future.

An employer can help protect itself from claims of harassment by independent contractors by including an antiharassment policy in independent contractor agreements and making compliance mandatory. Employers should consider obtaining indemnification agreements in such contracts to protect against any liability for acts by the independent contractor.

Customer Discrimination and Equal Access Claims

Businesses increasingly face with complaints and litigation by customers (and advocacy groups) who assert that the business has discriminated against customers based on race or has denied access to disabled customers. In order to minimize the risk posed by such complaints, companies should consider adopting specific policies governing customer service and providing customers with an avenue for their complaints. At a minimum, businesses should train staff to treat all customers equally, with respect and dignity, regardless of race, sex, age, national origin, disability, or any other characteristic. This idea, which is really just good business practice, can easily be incorporated into an employer policy manual and may help to reduce exposure to punitive damage awards in customer litigation.

In addition, just as policies regarding complaints of workplace harassment and mandating prompt, thorough, and effective investigations are a good defense to employee harassment claims, they can also be beneficial in handling customer complaints. A customer complaint policy should advise customers that the company treats all customers equally regardless of race, sex, age, national origin, disability, or any other characteristic; should designate someone at the company to receive complaints; and should advise customers that their complaints will be promptly addressed.

Personnel Policies and Employee Handbooks

General Tips

Lawsuits based on language contained in employee handbooks and other written employment policies and procedures are becoming increasingly common. Courts have found written employment policies to constitute employment contracts or enforceable promises, and an employer's failure to adhere to them can result in breach-of-contract and promissory estoppel liability. Nevertheless, a properly drafted employee handbook can be a valuable tool for disseminating information about a company and its policies, as well as a guide for management to promote nonarbitrary, consistent application of company policies and practices.

To limit potential liability, employers should regularly review their handbooks to determine whether they contain language that can be the basis for a wrongful discharge lawsuit or other employment claim. When an employer distributes a handbook, the employer should be prepared to follow the specific terms and conditions set forth in the handbook. The provisions of an employee handbook must be tailored to the employer's individual characteristics, such as size, unionization status, industry, and professional vs. service. All employers, however, could benefit from the following general guidelines.

Disclaim Any Promise of Job Security

Every employee handbook, policy manual, or similar document distributed to employees should contain

a clear, prominently displayed, and unmistakable disclaimer of any promise of job security. Courts in several states have ruled that such disclaimers can be an absolute defense against breach-of-contract claims. Appropriate disclaimers should be included not only in employment applications, but also in the handbook itself and, most importantly, in the acknowledgment form employees sign upon receipt of the handbook.

Such disclaimers should state that the handbook and other policies are not intended to constitute employment contracts or promises. These disclaimers should also specify that employment with the employer is for no definite period and may be terminated by the employee or the employer at any time with or without notice and with or without cause. Disclaimers should also identify specific people who have the authority to bind the employer to contracts that modify the at-will employment relationship and describe how such contracts or modifications must be implemented. Disclaimers should state that, absent such modifications, the at-will nature of the employment relationship cannot be altered.

Courts have differed widely in their opinions as to the effectiveness of particular forms of disclaimers. Even within states, there are divisions of opinion among judges. A disclaimer is most likely to be held effective when it appears in a formal written employment document. The less formal the document in which the disclaimer appears, the less likely it is that the disclaimer will be found effective. For this reason, all employers are advised to consider adding disclaimers in employee handbooks, acknowledgment forms, personnel policies, and employment applications.

Avoid Making Contractual Obligations

The language of each provision in a handbook should be evaluated by an attorney for any terms or phrases that could give rise to enforceable contract rights that the employer may not have intended to grant.

Use Clear and Concise Language

Handbook provisions should clearly and accurately describe the employer's practices and policies to avoid interpretations the employer does not intend. In this regard, individual provisions that apply only to certain classes of employees should clearly indicate which employees are covered. As examples, many employers grant vacation or other benefits to part-time employees on a prorated basis, and exempt employees may not be subject to certain types of suspension without pay. Therefore, provisions discussing such rules should clearly identify which employees are eligible for the described benefit or subject to the listed conditions.

Specifically Allow for Flexibility and Modification

It is neither possible nor practical for an employee handbook to address every policy or employment situation that may arise. For this reason, employers should specifically state that the handbook is not all-inclusive and contains only general statements of company policies. The handbook should also state that its provisions may be modified at the employer's discretion. Moreover, certain individual provisions (for example, discipline rules) should also state that management has flexibility and that the terms of the handbook are not all-inclusive.

Good Policies to Include in an Employee Handbook

- Application of handbook provision indicating which employees are covered by the handbook and setting forth the company's right to change and modify the handbook and its contents.
- Equal employment opportunity policy indicating that equal employment opportunities are practiced by the employer in all phases of employment and that no retaliation will be taken against employees exercising rights under company policy or applicable law.
- No-harassment policy covering sexual harassment and other discriminatory harassment. The policy should conform to the guidelines set forth earlier in this guide.
- Employment-at-will policy if the employer maintains an at-will employment relationship. This should be conspicuously placed at the front of the handbook and should specifically state that the employment relationship is terminable at the will of either the employee or the employer at any time for any reason.
- Handbook acknowledgment form, which the employee signs and returns to the employer. The form should acknowledge receipt of the handbook and agreement to read the handbook. Contract disclaimer and employment-at-will language should also be included on the form.
- Family and Medical Leave Act policy if the employer is covered under the FMLA or analogous state law.
- Telephone and electronic communication systems policy retaining the employer's property rights to all information transmitted through electronic communications (e.g., email and computer systems) and negating any privacy expectations in such communications. Employees should be specifically notified that communications may be monitored in accordance with applicable law.

• Social media policy covering social media use that clearly and narrowly sets out acceptable and unacceptable usage inside and outside the workplace. The policy should comply with and be implemented in accordance with local requirements, including privacy laws. For example, employers need to be aware of whistleblower protections under various state and federal laws (e.g., Sarbanes-Oxley) that may apply to employees who criticize certain business practices in a blog entry or post. Likewise, the National Labor Relations Act prohibits employers from interfering with or discriminating against employees who engage in concerted activities for the purpose of collective bargaining or other mutual aid or protection. This includes a broad array of activities, including discussing the terms or conditions of employment, including wages, hours and workplace conditions. State privacy laws also may be implicated.

Policies That Give Rise to Claims

The following are practical tips for redressing problems frequently encountered with employee handbooks or policy manuals. In implementing any of the following suggestions, however, an employer must evaluate the labor relations climate that exists at its place of business and in the surrounding community. For example, if employees have been or are likely to be the target of a union organizing drive, an employer may not want to include some of the suggested language in its handbook.

 Permanent employment—Any references to "permanent employment" in a handbook should be eliminated and replaced with the term "regular full-time employment." In defining regular full-time employment, employers should state that employees

- are hired for no definite period. This wording makes it more difficult to claim that an employment contract for a specified period exists or that an employee has been hired on a permanent basis.
- Probationary periods—Many employers have policies
 that establish probationary periods so they can
 evaluate an employee's work performance and
 presumably terminate the employee without following
 any progressive discipline procedures. Caution
 should be exercised, however, in the wording of a
 probationary period policy because the establishment
 of any type of probationary period implies that once
 employees complete their probationary periods, they
 may be terminated only for "just cause." In that regard,
 the concept of a probationary period is inconsistent
 with the concept of at-will employment.

Employers that want to implement probationary periods should consider calling them "introductory periods" or using other language that does not implicitly promise additional rights upon completion of the period. In addition, it is advisable to include a statement in the probationary period policy that provides that when the employee completes probation, the relationship with the employer is still one of employment-at-will. To give the introductory period some meaning apart from an implication of a promise of continued employment, the employer might link the completion of the introductory period to the commencement of some benefit, such as eligibility for holiday pay.

 Progressive discipline/disciplinary procedures— Employer manuals and handbooks commonly specify certain disciplinary procedures that must be followed before an employee is dismissed. These procedures, however, may prompt disgruntled employees to claim that an employer that failed to follow the procedures

- was bound to do so by the terms of the written policy. Handbooks and manuals often contain progressive discipline and discharge policies that set forth specific offenses and penalties. These policies should, at a minimum, state that the procedures are only guidelines, are not all-inclusive, and are not intended to apply to every situation. They should state that the guidelines are not meant to change, and do not change, the employment-at-will relationship.
- Leave caps—Employer handbooks sometimes set maximum time periods for leaves, after which termination is automatic. The EEOC has taken the position that such a policy is a per se violation of the ADA. Employers should treat leaves, provided as an accommodation, on a case-by-case basis.
- Destroying exempt status under FLSA—Handbooks should include necessary exceptions for exempt employees. For example, exempt employees may not be subject to partial-week suspensions unless they receive salary during the suspension, and paying overtime to exempt employees may undermine their classification as exempt.
- Social media—As the popularity of social networking increases and becomes more mainstream, employers may feel inclined to increase their monitoring and regulation of employees' use of social media. However, employers must balance this impulse against an array of legal risks. The National Labor Relations Board (NLRB) has become active in scrutinizing and striking down employers' social media policies, particularly those that are overbroad or vague. Employers should make sure that their social media policies are as specific as possible. For example, instead of asking employees not to post "inappropriate remarks," specify that remarks cannot be discriminatory or harassing. Employers should also proceed with caution when asking employees to turn over their usernames

or passwords for their personal social media accounts. A number of states, such as Illinois and Maryland, have passed legislation limiting the disclosure of this information, and similar legislation is pending in a number of other states.

Employee Evaluations

There are compelling business and legal reasons for employers to give employees performance appraisals. Thoughtful performance evaluations are instrumental in a variety of human resources decisions, including compensation, transfers, promotions, and terminations. Proper job evaluations, conducted on a regularly scheduled basis, are helpful in monitoring performance and provide a specific record to support employment decisions. Performance appraisals are crucial to all employment decisions because evaluations are often presumed to be the most definitive and reliable source of information regarding an employee's performance. The first evidence attorneys and courts usually consider in adjudicating employment claims are the employee's performance appraisals during the period leading up to the adverse employment decision.

Performance evaluations tell employees how they are performing and prevent surprises in the future. They advise employees of what management expects and how well the employee is meeting the expectations. Properly prepared evaluations can limit discrimination claims or provide a defense should litigation occur. On the other hand, perfunctory evaluations that do not inform employees of how well they are actually doing their jobs can haunt employers during litigation. Too often,

supervisors or managers who rate employees have not been trained on how to conduct a proper evaluation.

As a result, they often check "satisfactory" or "good" without giving very much thought to whether these terms accurately reflect the employee's performance. The person filling out a performance evaluation often uses the same comments for virtually all employees. Such use of the performance review is relatively meaningless, unreliable, and risky. Indeed, it is common in employment litigation for employees to challenge discharge decisions by referring to a long history of favorable performance evaluations. Because they are used as a motivation tool, performance evaluations often are unrealistically high and may inadvertently give the employee a reasonable expectation of continued employment.

General Guidelines

All supervisors and human resource professionals who conduct performance evaluations should be trained that evaluations must be honest, accurate, and candid, and that they should evaluate both the strengths and weaknesses of employees. Evaluations should also be reviewed by another manager or supervisor who has no direct personal interest or bias regarding the employee. Lastly, evaluations should be disclosed to and discussed with the evaluated employee. The employee should always be given a chance to respond to or comment on the evaluation.

An employer wishing to implement an effective employee performance evaluation process should consider the following general guidelines:

• Provide clear written instructions to all supervisors involved in the evaluation process.

- Conduct training for supervisors and human resource professionals involved in the evaluation process to ensure their familiarity with the nature and importance of the various job duties of the employee being evaluated.
- Implement a performance appraisal system that is job-related.
- Take reasonable precautions against improper bias by the supervisors.
- Require more than one level of management to review and approve the appraisal.
- Conduct central monitoring by human resources to ensure uniform performance rating standards.
- Allow the employee to comment or respond to the evaluation.
- Allow employees to appeal poor performance evaluations within a reasonable period.
- Require supervisors to identify specific performance goals as part of the evaluation process.

Instructions for Supervisors

Supervisors and managers who evaluate employees should be given instructions that explain the system's importance and purpose as well as the need for honesty, accuracy, and fairness. The instructions should include information that is helpful to supervisors and managers in dealing with potential problems. These instructions should include a directive to the supervisor or manager to review an employee's job description before evaluating the employee. The supervisors or manager should sign a form acknowledging that he or she has read the instructions and will comply with them, and the form should be placed in the supervisor's or manager's personnel file.

Training

A program for training supervisors or managers in conducting performance reviews also should be implemented. Such training will generally take several hours and will include a number of practice exercises to demonstrate typical errors made in performance evaluations and to increase the overall reliability of evaluations. The errors that most often occur in evaluating employees include excessive leniency, the tendency to avoid the ends of a rating scale (such as "superior" or "poor"), and the inclination on the part of some managers or supervisors to rate an employee in each area on the basis of an overall impression, rather than on the basis of how the employee has performed in each specific area.

Failure to train supervisors and managers on how to evaluate employees can make discrimination cases more difficult to defend. On the other hand, if supervisors and managers are trained to evaluate employees, if they follow through with what they have learned in training, and if these evaluations are well-documented, they can be valuable, not only in preventing or defending a lawsuit, but in improving employee efficiency as well.

Job descriptions, if available, should be reviewed when preparing performance reviews. A job description allows the supervisor and employee to start with a common basis for determining the quality and quantity of an employee's work. Training for managers should also explain how the company uses appraisals in its promotion and discipline system.

Job-Related Appraisals

Job-related evaluation forms should be used. A "canned form" is usually inappropriate. The rating choices on any form should be as specific as possible and related to the area of performance being evaluated. The often-used "unsatisfactory," "satisfactory," "good," and "excellent" ratings are usually too general and meaningless to properly evaluate particular jobs. These terms are very subjective, for what is "good" for one supervisor may be only "satisfactory" for another. Furthermore, a choice of "not observed" or "not applicable" should be available to the supervisor.

In designing the performance evaluation forms, employers should use categories that call for the evaluation of specific job behavior, not personality traits. Doing so will help lead to job evaluations that are properly focused on the employee's performance on the job, rather than to evaluations that may seem to be a personal attack on the employee.

An evaluation that seems to be a personal attack on the employee may lead to the argument that the evaluation reflects stereotypes about protected groups, prejudice, or some other improper motive to treat the employee harshly. Commenting about personality traits rather than job behavior might also raise problems under the ADA, because those personality traits might be the result of a psychological condition.

Similarly, the criteria for evaluation should be as objective as possible. For example, an evaluation of a supervisor should focus on the results of the unit or the way in which the supervisor interacts with other members of the unit, rather than simply being a subjective assessment of the person's judgment or

initiative. Obviously, subjective evaluations are part of performance appraisals, particularly for higher-ranking employees. In evaluating subjective indicators of performance, however, the employer should direct evaluators to give specific examples to illustrate the subjective criteria.

If an employee is terminated because of job performance problems in aspects that are not included within the employer's system of evaluation, the employer will likely face a major obstacle in litigation because the employer will likely not have documented the reasons for the termination. Furthermore, it may be difficult for the employer to demonstrate that the job performance problem is truly important if the reason for termination is not even included in the employer's evaluation.

Objective and Independent Review

Employers must take precautions against supervisor and manager bias and arbitrary supervisory actions. During the training of supervisors and managers, employers must emphasize that they will not tolerate any job-related stereotypes or bias. It is important that the employer implement a system for monitoring performance evaluations to make sure that bias do not taint the process.

Human resource managers should review all performance reviews before presenting them to employees. Having an additional level of review produces even greater reliability. The additional level of evaluation is obviously more significant when the superior has personal knowledge of the job duties and the employee's actual performance.

An employer should implement a central monitoring program of the review process to make sure that it is being uniformly, consistently, and honestly carried out for all employees.

Meaningful Evaluations

Reviews must be honest and candid. Although a supervisor can be unduly harsh on employees during an evaluation, excessive leniency is more common. Purposefully giving an employee better ratings than he or she deserves often backfires and can be the grounds for a lawsuit. Certainly, it is appropriate to note and praise good work done by the employee in the past, but an evaluation must also point out any deficiencies in performance. Goals should be set for an underperforming employee. The defense of wrongful termination litigation will be seriously undermined if the reason for termination is a problem that had been developing over time but was ignored in performance appraisals. The employer's case is damaged even further if the employee received unduly favorable performance evaluations, including favorable rankings on the categories of performance that are involved in the termination.

Generally, rigid mathematical quotas or requirements dictating the number or percentage of employees in each evaluation category by each supervisor are not advisable because some supervisors may have an imbalance of strong or weak performers in a particular unit. Supervisors should, however, be given general guidelines regarding the expected distribution of rankings, and deviations from that expected distribution should be justified.

Employee Acknowledgement

Employees should have the right to review the evaluations and be given an opportunity to comment. This can alert an employee to actual or potential problems. It shows that the employer is being fair. The employee should acknowledge in writing that he or she has read the evaluation. This prevents the employee from later claiming he or she was unaware of performance problems. If the employee disagrees with the evaluation, he or she should be allowed to state that on the evaluation form.

Limited Access to Evaluations

Limiting access to performance reviews is beneficial for a couple of reasons. First, it limits the chance of claims such as defamation, invasion of privacy, intentional infliction of emotional distress, or constructive discharge. Second, it fosters greater honesty if managers know that access to their reviews will be limited to the human resources department, employees who are the subjects of reviews, and others with legitimate business reasons for reviewing them.

Record Keeping

Regulations issued by the EEOC require employers to keep records of personnel actions for at least one year from the date of the action and to retain records as to terminated employees for one year after the date of discharge. As a general practice, it is also advisable to keep employment records, including employee evaluations, for four years so that they are available to defend lawsuits brought under the major federal

employment laws. Employers, however, should consult with local counsel to ensure that they comply with all state and local requirements and to assess whether documents should be retained longer due to state statutes of limitations.

Forced Rankings

Performance evaluations are often used with reductions in force (RIFs) under a "forced ranking" process whereby employees are placed into peer groups and evaluated by their supervisors to produce a ranked list. Once management decides which department will lose employees, the forced rankings are used to identify candidates for discharge. This process has been called both "rank and yank" or "rank and fire."

This process has resulted in lawsuits challenging the process as a subterfuge for discrimination, particularly where, on a statistical basis, minorities or other protected groups fall in the lower range of the list. Yet a forced ranking process that takes due consideration of actual job performance, is truly nondiscriminatory, and is subject to the careful review of management as described above, should survive scrutiny. Such programs, however, should only be implemented only after consultation with counsel.

Discipline and Corrective Action

General Considerations

Employers should have clear disciplinary standards, and should apply them uniformly for two reasons. First, uniformity meets a jury's notion of fundamental fairness. Second, the easiest way to win a discrimination lawsuit is to show that a young white male was given a lesser punishment for the same offense than someone in a protected class. Thus, if an employer is not prepared to fire one of its better salespeople for theft, then the employer needs to realize it will be very hazardous to fire another salesperson with poor sales who is also a thief.

Employers should adhere to any applicable timetables or procedures set forth in a company handbook or disciplinary guidelines. To implement a defensible discipline process:

- Use "objective" systems where possible.
- Do not wait until a problem becomes serious to take action.
- When a problem develops, discuss it with the employee and suggest ways of correcting the situation.
- Consider the employee's reasons for the behavior and explain why those are unacceptable. (Such discussions should be documented and placed in the employee's file; moreover, oral and written warnings should be given for specific problems.)
- Make a written record of verbal warnings, written warnings, all specific problems, and terminations.

- Provide notice of the specific requirements with which the disciplined employees must comply to avoid further discipline or discharge and the period the requirements are in effect.
- Be especially careful about documentation in dealing with protected-class persons. (Special concerns include uniformity, absence of evidence of discriminatory intent, and use of the "last chance" technique.)

Most employers use a progressive discipline system—an oral warning for the first offense, a written warning for the second offense, a suspension for the third offense and, finally, termination. The idea is to give employees a chance to correct their behavior without the penalty for a minor offense being too severe. The employer's policy, however, should be clear that some violations could result in immediate terminations. For example, most employers fire even first-time embezzlers.

Oral warnings—Oral warnings should be applied for relatively minor infractions. The supervisor should talk to the employee in private and inform the employee that he or she is administering an oral warning and that the employee is being given an opportunity to correct the behavior. The employee should be told that if the behavior is not corrected, the employee will be subject to more severe disciplinary measures. A notation that an oral warning was given should be made for the supervisor's records and placed in the employee's personnel file.

Written warnings—This type of notice should be issued by the supervisor if the employee continues to disregard an oral warning or if the infraction is severe enough to warrant a written record immediately. The supervisor should detail the nature of the infraction and sign the

notice. He or she should discuss the warning with the employee and make certain the employee understands the reasons for the disciplinary action. A copy of the warning notice should be handed to the employee at the time of the discussion, and the employee should be asked to sign and date the notice acknowledging receipt. The original of the notice should be placed in the employee's personnel file.

Suspension—This form of discipline normally is reserved for severe rule violations or for repeated violations for which the employee has already received a written warning and has made insufficient effort to improve performance or behavior. This is the most severe form of discipline given by a supervisor, short of termination. It should be applied only after a thorough evaluation by the supervisor and his or her superiors. The supervisor should document the events leading to the suspension and the duration of the suspension. The supervisor should tell the employee of the reasons for the disciplinary action and give the employee an opportunity to respond before implementing the decision to suspend. The original copy of the disciplinary suspension notice should be signed by the employee and placed in the employee's personnel file, with a copy given to the employee. When an employee returns from a period of disciplinary suspension, the supervisor should make certain that he or she gets back to his or her job with as little injury to his or her self-respect as possible.

Discussion of the problem with someone else—If undesirable behavior continues, the supervisor should discuss the problem with the appropriate human resources professional. Arrange a specific meeting between human resources officials and the employee. At the meeting, inform the employee, in writing, of each action or activity that must be corrected, and have the

employee sign the document. Make certain the employee understands that the failure to comply with these requirements could result in discharge.

The disciplinary notice—In deciding whether to discipline an employee, and in administering the discipline, the employer should carefully select language that describes the employee's offending conduct. In doing so, the employer should not use terms that might be viewed as a reference to an employee's psychological or medical condition or an attack on the employee's character.

Discipline Should Be Documented

Properly drafted documents regarding discipline decisions are vital in defending such actions in litigation. Judges and juries tend to credit written documents, and they get suspicious when there are no documents reflecting problems with the employee. In addition, memories fade with time, and written documentation can help recall events as they actually happened. Of course, the writing should be in a helpful form. Employers should assume that all documents relating to employment decisions will end up before a judge or jury. In this regard, several key points should be followed in drafting any employment-related documents:

- Be truthful and accurate.
- Use plain, nontechnical language.
- Accuracy is much more important than speed. Take your time and do it right.
- Try to critically review your first draft of the document. Ask yourself, "What impact will this have on a jury?" "Does it accomplish what is necessary?"
- Have the human resources department or an attorney review important documents.

- Although it is never too late to prepare a document, strive to prepare the document as soon after the incident as possible.
- Tell the whole story.
- State expectations for the future, even if merely restating the rule.

Disciplinary documents should also clearly state the consequences of additional violations. Documents should be dated, and the author should be clearly identified. They also should be signed and dated by the employee. If the employee refuses to sign the document, the supervisor should note the date the employee was presented with the document and the fact that he or she refused to sign it, and then sign the document under the notations. The document should be labeled "Confidential" and should be treated as such. The document should be legible, though it need not be typed.

If a record of an event is based on the reports of third parties, be certain to follow these guidelines in making a record based on the reports. Take careful, legible notes. Allow and encourage employees to make changes to their statements in their own handwriting. At the end of the notes, include this statement: "These notes accurately reflect the statements that I gave to [notetaker's name] regarding my observations. I gave this information voluntarily. I have been given the opportunity to review the notes and to make any changes that I felt were necessary to make the notes accurate." Then have the person read the statement and sign it. If a person refuses to sign the notes, at least have the person review the notes. Then sign the document indicating that the notes were reviewed and verbally approved by the third party. Remember, there are no casual notes. All documents, informal or formal, casual or not, are subject to discovery in litigation. In the event of litigation, all notes will be scrutinized.

Workplace Investigations

Investigations should always be done prior to deciding to discipline an employee. The investigation should include, at a minimum, statements from witnesses and an interview with the employee who is under investigation. Remember that fair and reasonable treatment will be the jury's standard—"Did the employee get a fair shake? Would I want to be treated that way?" If outside investigators are used, employers must conform to obligations imposed by the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA).

Terminating the Employment Relationship

The Basics

Although employment terminations are inevitable, they are not the goal of a good employee relations program. Rather, employers should attempt to make each employee the best possible employee. Virtually every employment termination is stressful, and the terminated employee will not be happy with the decision. Whatever the reason for the termination, the terminated employee may believe that he or she did nothing wrong and it was not his or her fault. In addition, employment terminations are often traumatic events, especially for the terminated employee. As a result, most terminated employees consider the termination to be a direct personal attack and an affront to their reputation and self-esteem.

Further, every termination decision will be reviewed by someone who is not on the employer's side. A terminated employee will usually talk about the termination with someone. At the very least, it may be a spouse, family member, friend, colleague, or former co-worker. Then again, it may be a union business agent, government investigator, or attorney. Hopefully, it will never be a judge or jury. The best way to protect against the individual's ever telling his or her story to a judge or jury is to treat the employee fairly and with respect. A terminated employee who believes that he or she was treated unfairly, whether or not the termination violated the law, is far more likely to go to a lawyer or government agency than an individual who feels that the treatment was reasonable, fair, and honest under the circumstances.

Establish Termination Procedures

Employment relationships end for a variety of reasons, both voluntary and involuntary (from the employee's perspective). Voluntary terminations include resignations and retirements. Involuntary terminations include layoffs, restructuring, job eliminations, reductions in force (RIFs), and terminations for misconduct and poor performance.

It is critical for an employer to establish a "termination procedure" that has three parts: 1) making the termination decision, 2) communicating the termination decision, and 3) handling post-termination issues. A process or procedure that is fair at each stage and responsive to the individual can go a long way toward preventing employment claims and lawsuits.

Making the Termination Decision

Misconduct or poor performance will, at least in part, be the reason for most involuntary terminations. The

primary exception is when the decision is made on an entirely objective basis, such as a layoff by seniority or a plant closing. Even in layoffs and RIFs not based on seniority, there is often an analysis of performance and skills to determine who should or should not be terminated.

Certain procedures already should be in place because the "investigation" stage of the process can take time. In layoff, restructuring, and RIF situations, make sure you provide sufficient time to make the best decisions. In misconduct situations, consider suspending the alleged wrongdoer during the investigation. By doing so, you relieve some of the pressure to make a quick decision before completing the decision-making process. At the same time, by having the employee off site, you limit the risk of further misconduct.

However, the investigation of misconduct or evaluation of performance is only the first step in a multistep termination process. Next, any decision to terminate an employee should be reviewed by others. A supervisor or manager should almost never have the authority to terminate an employee "on the spot." Rather, the greatest authority that any one individual should have is to remove the employee from the area or facility-to suspend pending investigation—without speculating about what further action may occur (other than a full investigation). Selecting the person to conduct this review will depend on your management structure but, in the end, the employee's manager, senior management, and human resources should participate in any termination decision. The decision makers should also ensure that the decision complies with company policy (for example, progressive discipline policies), and that other employees with similar work records who have engaged in similar conduct have been treated the

same. Many employers involve legal counsel, as well. Because the employee will have someone "review" the termination decision, it makes sense that the employer should do so, too. This review should analyze the fairness of the decision-making process/investigation and the decision itself.

Communicating the Termination Decision

One of the most difficult tasks a manager or human resources professional will face is telling an employee that he or she is fired. How this task is performed, and what the employer does in the few minutes after the decision is communicated, can have a profound effect on how the terminated employee feels and whether that individual will take further action regarding the termination.

Timing of the decision is also important. For example, it is generally a mistake to terminate an employee on Christmas Eve or on the afternoon before the individual leaves on a vacation. Interestingly, research shows that it is better to terminate an individual midweek rather than on Friday afternoon. In the end, pick a time that will be least disruptive to the individual and employer. Often, this time is near the end of the day so the employee can leave with less disruption and embarrassment in front of co-workers.

Plan the termination in advance and have notes or a "script" ready. There should be two people from the employer present—generally a senior manager from the employee's department or division and a person from human resources. The meeting should take place in private with only these three individuals present.

The termination meeting should not take more than five to 30 minutes, unless you provide an exit interview

as part of the process. Communicate the termination decision early in the meeting and do so directly. Do not provide an inconsistent message or suggest that the decision is still under review. If the employee attempts to challenge the decision, allow the person to speak but make it clear that the decision has been made. In addition, once you decide (ahead of time) on the reason for the termination, communicate that reason and stick to it. The reason you give in the termination meeting is the reason that you must be prepared to state under oath in front of a judge and jury. If there are multiple or interrelated reasons, say so. The bottom line: Be clear and consistent.

After communicating the decision, tell the individual what will happen next. If there is any employer property to be recovered (keys, ID, computer, cell phone, credit cards, pager, etc.), have a list ready and seek to recover that property before the person leaves. Also, briefly explain compensation and benefit information. Depending on your state, you may be required to pay final compensation (including wages through termination and accrued but unused vacation) at the time of termination. At the latest, you will need to pay these amounts on or before the next regular payday. Provide written information regarding insurance continuation, "retirement" or similar benefit programs, and (if required by your state law) unemployment compensation. If you are going to provide a severance package (discussed later in this chapter), briefly describe it, inform the individual that receiving the package is contingent on signing a release agreement, and give the individual the appropriate documents.

It is important and beneficial to inform the person whom he or she should contact with any questions.

Before the termination meeting, it is important to assess "security" issues regarding the individual. It is a good idea to notify security that you are terminating an employee so that security is "on alert" if something happens. In addition, if the employee used or had access to a computer, during the termination meeting have your information systems department terminate the person's computer access. If the terminated employee states that he or she had personal items on the computer, these can always be copied and sent to the individual. Also, determine whether you will allow the person to say goodbye to co-workers and pack his or her belongings, or whether you will ask the person to leave immediately and will send personal belongings home. The final step in the termination meeting is to inform the employee regarding these "security" decisions.

Conclude the meeting by saying good-bye and wishing the person the best in the future. Avoid statements such as, "You will be better off in the long run" or "I wish I didn't have to do this" because these statements can be offensive.

Responding to Post-Termination Issues

An employer's actions after the termination can result in legal liability, so it is important to have procedures in place for post-termination matters. Claims that can arise from the employer's post-termination conduct include defamation, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and "blacklisting" or deliberate interference with the individual's attempt to obtain new employment.

To the extent other employees or third parties (such as clients, vendors, or other business contacts) must be told of the termination, do so in a neutral manner. Simply state that the individual is no longer with the employer. Do not provide any details or other information. If

pressed, simply state that it is the employer's policy not to discuss personnel matters with others.

It is important that all employers have a reference policy that prohibits supervisors and managers from providing references about current or former employees. Rather, all employees should be advised that all reference requests must be sent to or forwarded to a specific person (such as the director of human resources). It also is important to require that all reference requests be made in writing and that all responses be provided in writing. Employers should inform all personnel to refuse to respond to telephone inquiries about a former employee asking details of performance or eligibility for rehire. Instruct personnel instead to respond to such calls by politely referring the caller to the appropriate person. (For example, "I am sorry but I cannot provide you with any information. Let me transfer you to our director of human resources, who may be able to assist you further.")

Do not provide reference letters that are inconsistent with reasons given to the employee regarding the termination. In most circumstances, the best policy is to provide only a "neutral" reference letter confirming dates of employment and last position held.

If the employee has any rights under law or your benefit plans, such as health insurance continuation under COBRA or state law or rights under retirement plans, make sure that you adhere to any notification deadlines. Provide all required information in writing, and keep a record of any communications. Respond to questions or requests for information promptly. Delays in responding to questions from terminated individuals will simply add to their suspicion about the termination and can lead to liability under ERISA.

In many states, employees and former employees have a right to review certain personnel materials, including materials used in making employment decisions including termination. Exceptions may exist, including when litigation is threatened or pending. Penalties may include imposing monetary fines or barring the employer from using documents that were not disclosed to the employee in any litigation. Employers who receive such requests should consider state laws before responding.

Severance Agreements

Employers that must terminate an employee or group of employees often consider offering the employee(s) severance pay and/or benefits in conjunction with the termination. Generally, when an employer offers severance, it also seeks a release and waiver from the employee(s) of all claims arising out of their employment. Because of the various employment laws in effect, an employer cannot assume "one size fits all" when it comes to severance and release agreements. Therefore, an employer must tailor these agreements to the specific needs and circumstances of each situation.

Pros and Cons of Severance and Release Agreements

There are pros and cons associated with the use of severance agreements. The biggest benefit is that if an agreement is properly drafted and is signed by the individual, it will prevent an employee from recovering for claims against the employer related to the employment. Although employees can release their own claims against the employer, it is illegal for an employer to ask an employee to waive the right to participation in the investigation of a charge by an agency such as the EEOC. Such a release would be invalid. However, an employee may waive the right to monetary relief obtained through an EEOC charge.

In today's litigious society, receiving a signed release provides peace of mind. Further, by preventing a lawsuit, an employer not only saves the time, effort, and money that would have been expended in defending the suit, but also avoids adverse internal and external publicity.

On the other hand, if the agreement is not properly drafted, the release may not be enforceable. The employee will have received additional money for naught because an employer often cannot recover the severance paid if the employee ultimately files a charge or lawsuit, even though the employer can offset the amount of any severance against an award of damages in the event the employee prevails. Further, the release may notify the employee of rights and remedies that that employee did not know existed, prompting the employee to consider whether a possible cause of action exists or encouraging the employee to talk to an attorney. This is especially true if the employee consults an attorney.

Legal Requirements

Severance and release agreements fall into three general categories: single or multiple employees under the age of 40, single employee age 40 and over, and multiple employees age 40 and over. The simplest severance and release agreement is for an employee under the age of 40. If an employer wants to use a severance and release agreement for employees age 40 and over, the agreement must comply with the ADEA and the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act (OWBPA). In addition, several states have legal requirements for release agreements.

With respect to any release of ADEA claims, the waiver must be "knowing and voluntary." Because of complexities in the law and court decisions interpreting the statute, an attorney should always be consulted on

these issues. Generally, however, the OWBPA provides that a waiver is knowing and voluntary if:

- a) It is drafted so that the employee will understand what rights and claims are being waived;
- b) It specifically refers to the ADEA and the OWBPA;
- c) It does not seek a waiver of any rights or claims that may arise after the agreement is executed;
- d) The employee is given something of value to which he or she is not already entitled;
- e) It advises, in writing, the employee to seek legal counsel;
- f) The employee is given 21 days to consider the agreement; and
- g) The employee is given seven days from signing the agreement to revoke it.

If a severance or other exit incentive is offered to multiple employees, the requirements to obtain a valid waiver are even more onerous and complex.

Summary of Common Contents of Severance and Release Agreements

Although there is no "one size fits all" severance agreement, certain items generally appear in all severance and release agreements:

- First, the termination date is specified, along with any remaining pay, accrued or earned vacation, or other benefit the employee is already entitled to receive.
- Second, the consideration that is being given for the release is described. Again, this must be something that the employee is not already entitled to receive. Consideration may include severance pay, employerpaid health insurance continuation, or outplacement services.

- Third, the agreement includes a release for all known or unknown claims. It should include claims under federal, state, and local law, and specific statutes or common law causes of action should be identified and included in the release. However, one area that an employer may not require a release is for claims under the Fair Labor Standards Act. Nor may an employee waive his or her right to participate in an EEOC charge (although the right to monetary recovery may be waived).
- Fourth, for employees age 40 and over, the OWBPA waiver requirements must also be met.

The severance and release agreement should include a "non-admission" clause stating that the agreement does not constitute an admission of liability of any kind on the part of the employer. Additionally, there should be "confidentiality" and "non-disparagement" provisions, which require the employee to keep the terms of the agreement confidential and prohibit the employee from making disparaging remarks about the employer. Ordinarily, such confidentiality and nondisparagement clauses are neutral, as between employer and employee. The agreement may also include "confidentiality," "nonsolicitation," and "non-compete" provisions to protect an employer's interests after the employee ends his or her employment by prohibiting the disclosure of certain information and/or engaging in unfair competition. Enforcement of these provisions by the courts varies from state to state. Therefore, an employer must ensure that it knows the appropriate standard and requirements for enforcement. An employer should also be aware of, and identify, any existing agreements with the employee that will remain in force. These agreements may include confidential information or restrictive covenant agreements.

Properly drafted, severance and release agreements can be useful tools to reduce the risks of litigation. Employers should consider using them in appropriate situations. Any release agreement should be reviewed by an employment attorney before it is offered to an employee.

Layoffs and Reductions In Force

Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act (WARN)

WARN requires employers to provide 60 days' written notice before any "plant closing" or "mass layoff." The terms "plant closing" and "mass layoff" are misleading, and care must be taken to ensure that the statutory definitions are understood. Notice (when required) must be served on unions, unrepresented affected employees, the appropriate local government, and the "state dislocated worker unit."

WARN's administration in practice can be extremely complex. Additionally, the Act has a variety of ambiguous exceptions, exemptions, and exclusions. WARN is enforced by the direct filing of lawsuits by employees, unions, or government officials in federal court.

Although a court cannot block a plant closing or mass layoff, an employer that fails to provide required notice may be liable for up to 60 days wages and benefits to all aggrieved employees who should have been afforded notice, plus a fine of up to \$500 per day (up to \$30,000) for any failure to serve notice on the local government. Additionally, prevailing parties can recover attorneys' fees and costs. WARN liability is offset by severance pay only if the severance pay was not provided pursuant to a

"legal obligation" (i.e., where it was not required under a labor agreement or binding severance policy). The \$500 per day fine is nullified if a violating employer pays all employees the amount for which the employer is liable within three weeks after the plant closing or mass layoff.

The DOL has promulgated detailed WARN regulations, although it has no other authority (apart from the promulgation of regulations) to enforce or administer WARN's requirements.

The Decision-Making Process

Layoffs and RIFs, on the surface, sound like events that would usually not lead to problems because they inevitably are motivated by sound business reasons. However, depending on who is selected to be laid off and why, layoffs can often lead to discrimination claims under various federal and state discrimination laws, either because employees are selected for dismissal for improper reasons (disparate treatment) or because the selection criteria disproportionately affect a certain protected category of employees (disparate impact). RIFs are also a common source of class-action and multiplaintiff claims, which are especially costly and time-consuming to defend. Therefore, it is critical that the decision-making process be designed with great care.

To maximize the probable validity of the decision-making process, an employer must undertake several tasks before carrying out a layoff or RIF. These tasks include:

- 1) Documenting the business reason for the layoff or RIF and the numbers of employees to be reduced.
- 2) Developing the nondiscriminatory, business-related criteria for selecting employees to be laid off.
- 3) Reviewing any performance-rating system to be used for disparate impact on any protected group.

- 4) Reviewing the personnel files of employees selected for layoff to ensure consistency with prior evaluations.
- 5) Comparing the relative representation of minorities, females and other individuals within protected categories before and after the selection process.

Finally, it would be prudent to have the results of these various tasks reviewed by an experienced attorney before implementing the layoff.

Preparation for RIF-Related Interviews

In every case, an adversely affected employee's supervisor and other decision makers should be prepared to accurately explain why each employee was selected for inclusion in the reduction, who made the relevant decisions, what benefits are available, and so on. Inconsistencies here predictably will reappear as damaging impeachment testimony in any subsequently filed discrimination or employment-at-will lawsuits. Indications that an employee was given "short shrift" prior to departure will be viewed, particularly by a jury, as indicative of an impersonal or uncaring attitude that could result in prejudice at trial.

Other Considerations

The following additional suggestions may limit potential claims resulting from a RIF:

- Document all aspects of the RIF. Document the reasons for the RIF, individual reduction selections, the criteria used, and the process followed at all stages of the RIF.
- Consider union-related issues. In unionized work settings, err on the side of giving the union the opportunity to engage in decision bargaining as well as effects bargaining. Carefully evaluate potential labor contract obligations implicated by the planned reduction.

- There is safety in numbers. Two or more members of management should be involved at every level of decision making during a RIF and during every meeting with affected employees.
- Review exit incentive issues and releases. Take special
 precautions to ensure that voluntary "early out"
 programs or early retirement incentives are in fact
 "voluntary" and nondiscriminatory. If written waivers
 or releases are desired, be sure to comply with the
 requirements of the OWBPA.
- Reduce numbers, not dollars. Workforce reduction goals should be stated in numbers of employees to be reduced or positions to be eliminated, rather than dollars to be saved.
- Evaluate and avoid "smoking gun" references. Review company bulletins and other documents to ensure there are no inadvertent references to age or some other protected characteristic. Make sure that all supervisors and managers are aware that email and voice-mail transmissions are often recoverable and discoverable, even if deleted.
- Evaluate potential disparate impact. Review tentative selection decisions and any performance rating systems for possible "adverse impact" discrimination. Be careful, however, during any EEO review to avoid creating an inadvertent "smoking gun" that could result, for example, if decision makers conduct their own EEO review, especially if that review occurs at the same time they are making selection decisions. Insulate the EEO review process from the selection process by making the EEO review remote in time (i.e., clearly after tentative selection decisions were made) and remote by person (i.e., conducted by someone other than selection decision makers), and have legal counsel determine the extent to which material can be protected from disclosure through application of the attorney-client privilege.

- Consider retention/demotion. Employees selected for termination should, to the extent possible, be considered for transfer, relocation, or even demotion based on objective criteria (or documented subjective criteria).
- Avoid selective protection or "hints" concerning probable inclusion/exclusion. Recent college graduates or other categories of mostly younger employees should not be insulated from RIF decisions. Additionally, especially if voluntary exit incentive programs are being considered, it is very important to avoid management "hints" concerning whether particular people should or should not worry about potential inclusion in the involuntary RIF.
- Watch out for alleged salary discrimination. Do not disfavor higher-paid employees, because higher salaries can be associated with age.
- Display employment posters. Ensure that the appropriate federal, state, and local fair employment practice posters (and other employment posters) are displayed (to ensure that the statute of limitations for filing age, race, or other types of claims begins running from the time of an employee's termination).
- Consider contract issues. Be sensitive to claims based on an informal or oral "contract" of continued employment, reviewing all company benefit programs, all handbooks, and employment applications.
- Review benefits issues. Carefully review and evaluate employee benefit plans and all benefit issues that might be implicated in or impacted by the planned RIF.

Single-Plaintiff And Multiparty Employment Litigation, Including Class And Collective Actions; The Alternative Dispute Resolution Option; And Other Issues

Types of Claims

Many types of claims can be pursued by individual employees or former employees. In some cases, as noted in prior sections, employees must first pursue their claims before administrative agencies. Then, in many cases, after exhausting administrative avenues of relief, employees may sue in state or federal court.

Employment litigation, like any other type of litigation, brings with it unique risks and burdens. Matters have been taken out of the hands of management and placed in the hands of a third party—an arbitrator, judge, or jury—who may not understand the employer's business and may have biases against employers or businesses in general. In addition, litigation imposes burdens on employers and management. Fact-finding, document production, depositions, and hearings consume management time and distract managers from productive work for the company.

Perhaps most significant in terms of burden on an employer and potential exposure are claims brought by or on behalf of multiple employees or exemployees. Most employment-related class or collective actions are brought under the antidiscrimination laws (Title VII, ADA, ADEA, etc.), ERISA, and the federal and state wage and hour laws. Each of these laws has distinct substantive

and procedural requirements that affect the ability of a plaintiff to obtain class- or collective-action certification.

Multiplaintiff actions can take a variety of forms. Under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a plaintiff can obtain certification of a class of employees, former employees, or applicants who have been affected by the same allegedly unlawful practice. Generally, although class members do not need to take any action to be included in the case, the class members will have the right to opt out of the class action and file their own individual suits. These procedures typically apply to claims under Title VII, ERISA, the ADA, and state wage and hour laws. Cases under the ADEA and FLSA use an opt-in mechanism whereby members of the proposed class must affirmatively state that they wish to be part of the case to be included. In still other cases, where a private plaintiff of the government (e.g., the EEOC) claims that an employer engaged in a pattern or practice of discrimination, a single plaintiff may be able to obtain relief on behalf of aggrieved persons who have not been joined in the case. In such cases, successful plaintiffs or the EEOC can obtain class-like monetary and injunctive relief on behalf of others.

Defense of significant employment-related cases does not end with in-depth understanding of the procedural rules and substantive law. It also requires an understanding of the milieu in which this litigation takes place, including:

- The potential impact of monetary or injunctive relief on the organization.
- The role of the media and the impact of its reporting.
- The effect of publicity and litigation defense on the defendant's workforce.
- The role of special interest advocacy groups and their efforts to influence the litigation's outcome.

- The effect of the litigation on the corporate image and, in the case of consumer-oriented companies, on the consuming public.
- How all of this adds up in terms of settlement pressures.

Obviously, when a class-action or multiplaintiff suit is filed or looms on the horizon, an employer should contact its insurance carrier and should retain competent counsel with experience handling such cases. The issues raised by multiplaintiff and class-action litigation are unique in themselves, and additional unique issues arise when such claims are brought regarding employment practices.

Arbitration and Other Types of Alternative Dispute Resolution

Rather than litigating every case, most employers at some time consider alternative dispute resolution (ADR) techniques. ADR is an umbrella term for a variety of policies and practices with a common goal of reducing employment disputes, particularly litigation. A number of ADR techniques are available to employers, both at the pre-dispute and post-dispute phases of the employment relationship, including mediation, peer review panels, and arbitration. The use of ADR to resolve employment-related disputes, including federal employment claims, has grown dramatically. In fact, many employers now use mandatory pre-dispute arbitration agreements. These contracts are generally entered into at the time of hire, and they require submitting all disputes arising out of the employment relationship to binding arbitration.

In order to assess the utility of any of these ADR techniques, employers should consider what facilities and geographical areas will be covered, which categories of employees will be covered (hourly

employees, nonmanagerial, managerial, supervisory, nonsupervisory, senior executives, incumbent employees, and/or new hires), and what claims will be covered (all employment actions, disciplinary and nondisciplinary, and/or statutory and nonstatutory).

In 2011, the U.S. Supreme Court in *AT&T v. Concepcion*, considered the validity of class arbitration agreements. The Supreme Court ruled that the Federal Arbitration Act (FAA) preempts a California rule, known as the Discover Bank rule, that banned class action waivers in consumer arbitration agreements where disputes between the parties were likely to involve a small amount in damages, and the consumer alleged a deliberate scheme to defraud. Although Concepcion seemed to hold that employers could ask employees to waive their right to litigate on behalf of a class, other federal courts have distinguished Concepcion and applied it with varying results. Accordingly, employers must carefully craft any class arbitration agreements.

Employers should weigh the pros and cons of ADR carefully and confer with legal counsel before adopting either pre-dispute or post-dispute ADR programs.

Advantages of Pre-Dispute ADR Programs
Improves employee morale—By providing employees
with a forum to air their grievances or complaints,
ADR can improve morale and productivity and give
employees greater participation in the decision-making
process that affects their everyday work lives. Many
employees pursue litigation so they can have their claims
heard by a third party. Some forms of ADR provide this
outlet without going to court.

Improves managerial decision making—ADR can bring to light new information that a responsible

employer may wish to take into account in making personnel decisions. This is particularly true when individuals in supervisory positions do not have the best "people skills." If an employment decision was poorly made, an employer has the opportunity to reverse it or settle it before going to court.

Eliminates the need for employees to seek third-party help—By giving employees a greater say in decision making, employers hope to create an environment in which employees will not feel the need to seek third-party help, such as from unions, attorneys, or agencies. Surveys have shown that insecurity and a sense of powerlessness are the leading motivators for employees' going to lawyers or unions. ADR addresses these concerns by giving employees a place to go with an employment dispute if they feel they were treated unfairly.

Advantages of Post-Dispute ADR Programs Limits employer's exposure to high costs of court **litigation and excessive jury verdicts**—A primary reason to consider ADR is to avoid or minimize an employer's exposure to the high costs of lengthy and time-consuming litigation, particularly jury trials. Damage awards in employment litigation have skyrocketed in many states because juries look for "deep pockets" against whom to assess punitive damages to punish conduct of which they disapprove or that they believe is unfair. Arbitration often results in lower and more realistic damage awards (although some startling exceptions have been known). Arbitrators are less likely to be swayed by emotions or anticorporate sentiment and normally hesitate to award punitive or compensatory damages, except in egregious cases.

Can be fast and convenient—In some states and certain federal courts, after protracted discovery, parties must wait years for a jury trial. The internal effect of lingering litigation often can be quite damaging. Because of its speed and informality, arbitration can be much less costly. Expensive motion practice, discovery, and costly procedures related to jury trials are largely avoided.

Results in predictable decisions—Arbitration can be more predictable than jury trials, especially in cases with facts favoring the employer. This makes it easier to assess potential liability and the settlement value of cases.

Improves privacy of process—The employer in arbitration may be able to reduce its exposure to adverse publicity because arbitration proceedings are not public proceedings.

Disadvantages of ADR

Could lead to uncertain enforcement—Presently, many questions about the enforceability of ADR procedures remain unresolved. Some courts or agencies permit litigation even if an employee refuses to submit to ADR. Arbitration agreements can prohibit an employee from filing a discrimination case in court, but cannot preclude an employee from filing an administrative charge of discrimination and may not preclude the EEOC from proceeding with an investigation and lawsuit. The resolution of these issues, for the time being, depends on the jurisdiction where a claim is brought, the specific ADR procedures that have been implemented, how ADR procedures were adopted, and the facts of each case.

Could generate claims—By making claim-resolution procedures cheaper, faster and more convenient for employees, there is a risk that ADR procedures will lead to an increase in the number of claims that an employer may have to address.

May result in difficult decisions regarding incumbent employees—Implementing ADR procedures for incumbent employees can involve difficult decisions concerning the type of ADR procedure to be established, how it will be adopted, and the employer response if employees refuse to sign or accept proposed ADR agreements. If an employer adopts an ADR policy that will be applied to all employees who continue their employment beyond a particular date, an individual's continued employment could be regarded as acceptance of the policy. However, some courts or agencies might disagree, absent an explicit ADR agreement signed by the company and the employee. If such an agreement is offered to employees who refuse to sign, the employer may be confronted with a difficult decision as to whether

Limits opportunity for appeal—Some types of ADR (for example, binding arbitration) place significant authority in a single person. Depending on the specific procedure adopted, there is a risk that an arbitrator will render an absurd judgment or an astronomically high award in an employee's favor. In such a situation, ADR may be a disadvantage, because employers have far greater difficulty appealing from arbitration awards than they do from jury verdicts. For example, one U.S. Supreme Court case indicates that even "grievous error" is an insufficient reason to reverse an arbitration award on appeal.

the employees should have their employment terminated

based on the refusal to accept ADR.

Could result in wild-card arbitration—Some arbitrators may be less receptive than judges to technical legal and procedural arguments, such as statutes of limitations, and may be unfamiliar with the law pertaining to the discrimination statutes involved, because arbitrations of statutory claims are still uncommon. Summary judgments are rarely granted in arbitration proceedings.

Arbitrators—especially those with a labor relations background—may also look to principles of progressive discipline and due process as evidence of nondiscriminatory treatment.

Could lead to possible surprises—Discovery is very limited in arbitration. Employers may be taken by surprise by the employee's evidence when the employer hears it for the first time at the arbitration hearing.

Dilutes employee at-will status—Mandatory ADR agreements may make it easier for the employee to assert contract-based claims if the employee is terminated.

Could result in "split the baby" decision making—Arbitrators tend to reach compromise decisions, meaning that in arbitration often the best decision an employer can get is a small adverse award. Arbitrators, unlike federal judges, lack job security and sometimes want to please both parties in the hopes of receiving repeat business, or for other reasons.

The Use of Personnel Records in Employment Litigation

Assume All Documents Are Available to Your Opponent

As a rule, the majority of documents used in wrongful discharge and other employment litigation, even those used by the plaintiff, come from the employer. Federal and state rules applicable to litigation permit employees and their attorneys to obtain access to a wide variety of the employer's documents and records, not just the employee's personnel file. Discoverable documents may include employment audits that evaluate a company's

compliance or noncompliance with employment laws, memoranda regarding efforts to meet the requirements of state and federal employment regulations, and reports regarding the hiring of protected classes or workplace disability issues. Rough drafts and handwritten notes may be discovered. Even documents prepared by the company after litigation has begun, including memoranda commenting on the facts or discussing defense strategies, may also be discoverable under certain circumstances.

Technology in the workplace has also created new sources of data. Email, even if deleted, may still be recovered. Plaintiffs now routinely seek computerstored information—passwords, word processing files, databases, voice-mail transmissions, personal calendars, computer programs, and source codes. All employees and supervisors must be aware that electronic and voice transmissions are generally not private. Moreover, discovery of the plaintiff's—and other employees'—social media accounts (Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, etc.) is becoming commonplace.

Exceptions to the rule of broad discovery are limited. Information protected by the attorney-client or other privilege is not subject to discovery. All privileges, however, may be waived, sometimes inadvertently. An attorney's files, notes, and mental impressions are protected by a qualified "work product" privilege. An employer, however, cannot make otherwise unprivileged documents privileged simply by giving them to either in-house or outside counsel.

The employee's attempt in the course of litigation or arbitration to obtain production of communications oral or written—between an employer and its insurer concerning the anticipated or pending dispute may be particularly problematic because the communications may include legal strategy and other confidential information. Accordingly, employers should make an effort to reduce the likelihood that the communications will have to be revealed. Although there is no way to guarantee that a judge or arbitrator will conclude that such communications are not discoverable, certain steps may reduce that risk. First, the communications should be between the insurer and the insured's attorney, not with the insured itself (although copies of written communications may be provided to the insured). The reason is that communications involving the attorney may be protected by the attorney-client privilege and/ or the workproduct doctrine. Although attorney-client and work-product communications are not absolutely privileged, discovery of such documents in litigation will not be ordered absent extraordinary circumstances. Second, unless a written record is required, the communications should be oral. Attempts to discover oral communications usually are less successful than discovery of documents because the precise words used in an oral communication tend not to be remembered for very long and, with the passage of time, memory of spoken words usually dims.

Employers should remember that there is no such thing as a truly "confidential" document in litigation. Marking internal documents or correspondence as "confidential" or "for your eyes only," or making them available on a "need-to-know basis," does not protect them from disclosure in litigation. Similarly, some employers erroneously believe that documents containing trade or commercial secrets, such as customer lists, or those containing confidential information about other employees, are protected from discovery. The only way to limit improper dissemination of this type of information is generally to seek a protective order

from the court after the document is requested by the employee's attorney.

The Benefits of Properly Prepared Documents

Given the increasing stream of employment litigation, a "paper trail" supporting the employer's action is more important than ever. Contemporaneously prepared, credible documentation contributes to a successful defense in a variety of ways:

Helps fact finder understand employer's case—Well-prepared documents show the chronology of events and help the judge, jury, or arbitrator understand what happened and how the employer's business works.

Enhances credibility of employer's case—When the employer's version of events is supported by documents, it is more believable, and the case is less likely to be reduced to a credibility contest between the employee and the employer's witnesses. Moreover, judges, jurors, and arbitrators know from their experiences that employers keep records, and a lack of documentation may make them suspicious of the employer's motives. This problem is compounded if the only documents from the employer are brought into the case by the plaintiff, because it is likely that the documents support the plaintiff's case.

Provides independent evidence—Under the rules of evidence, records kept in the employer's normal course of business can be used as evidence, even if the person who prepared them is not available to testify. If the preparer is available, the records can be used to refresh the witness's memory if he or she has an insufficient recollection of the incident at the time of the trial or hearing.

Can demonstrate that employee was treated

fairly—Employers should have documents showing that employees had notice of company policies and the employees' violations of those policies. If employees who are discharged for repeated policy violations sue, they will be less likely to win sympathy or their cases when employers can demonstrate with credible documents that the employees knew about the policy and that repeated violations could lead to termination. As a practical matter, employees who believe they have been treated fairly are less likely to sue in the first place.

Keeps the employee honest—An often-overlooked benefit of a good "paper trail" is that, if the employer's version of events is well documented, employees will be less able to fabricate events later to support their claims in litigation or arbitration proceedings. For example, an employee who has several disciplinary write-ups will be hard-pressed to later deny a problem with job performance.

Deters litigation—Employees will be less inclined to sue, and plaintiffs' attorneys will be less interested in taking a case, if the disputed decision is well-documented.

Problematic Documents

Just as properly prepared documents can aid in the defense against, or even avoid, employment litigation or arbitration, there are several categories of documents that may seriously weaken the employer's case.

Employers should keep the same types of documents for similarly situated employees. When employees are subject to disciplinary action for violating the employer's rules and regulations, the employer should prepare the same document for the same or similar offenses.

Because inaccurate and incomplete records have less credibility, all documents, whether formal or informal, should be dated and signed so they can be placed in chronological sequence. If a fill-in-the-blank form is being completed, all applicable blanks should be filled in correctly, and proper boxes should be checked. All facts should be accurate, and all relevant facts should be included.

Records should not contain vague statements or descriptions. Inappropriate employee conduct should be specifically described. For example, a performance evaluation stating that an employee is a "poor worker," is "not a team player," or "refuses to interact" with colleagues does not describe the problem. Instead, conduct should be specifically described. A more concrete example would state that the employee has "missed two sales meetings in the past three weeks," or has "failed to meet his or her production quota in four of the past six months." The need to specifically describe employee misconduct also applies to disciplinary writeups and warnings.

Documents specifically describing employee conduct serve two main purposes. First, they let the employee know exactly what the problem is and what needs to be done to correct it. Employees who are given an opportunity to improve are more likely to believe they have been treated fairly and are less likely to sue. Second, documentation gives the employer an accurate, credible record if litigation does occur.

Document Retention

Statutory retention requirements—Federal employment discrimination laws require employers to maintain personnel files and other documents for a specified period of time after an employee is terminated. State laws frequently contain similar requirements, which vary from state to state, and may require records to be kept significantly longer than the federal statutes do.

Statutes of limitations—In determining how long personnel files and other employment-related documents should be retained, employers must consider not only record retention requirements imposed by law, but also the statutes of limitation that govern potential claims against them. Employees frequently have years in which to bring claims against their employers and former employers.

Record-retention and destruction policy—Employers should have a recordretention policy and periodically destroy out-of-date records. A personnel specialist or employment law attorney can assist in identifying how long various records must be kept to comply with state and federal laws. Employers should also not overlook the need for a plan for the discovery and production of computer-stored information so that a discovery request for such information does not shut down the business.

Conclusion

The purpose of this guide is to provide employers with a basic understanding of the issues involved in avoiding and managing employment claims. Because each company has its own structure and concerns, the principles discussed here should be used as a starting point in tailoring policies and procedures to fulfill the requirements of individual businesses.

Employment law is increasingly complex. It is also rapidly changing. Continuing education for managers and human resource professionals through seminars and in-service programs makes good business sense. The proper management of human resources is often the hallmark of a well-run company. Developing sound employment practices now will pay dividends in preventing employment-related allegations and lawsuits in the future.

Information About The Authors

About Seyfarth Shaw LLP

Since its founding in Chicago in 1945 by Henry Seyfarth, Lee Shaw, and Owen Fairweather, Seyfarth Shaw LLP has grown into a full-service international law firm with more than 800 lawyers practicing in the United States (Atlanta, Boston, Chicago, Houston, Los Angeles, New York, Sacramento, San Francisco, Washington, D.C.); Europe (London); and the Far East (Melbourne and Sydney, Australia, and Shanghai, China). Its clients are located throughout the world and in all segments of the national and international economies and include many of the publicly traded corporations comprising the Fortune 500, as well as entrepreneurs, large and small privately held businesses, service sector clients, and numerous public sector entities.

About the Authors

Employment Practices Loss Prevention Guidelines is a result of the collaborative effort by attorneys of Seyfarth Shaw LLP led by Gerald L. Maatman, Jr. of the Chicago and New York offices of the law firm. For any additional information, please contact Mr. Maatman at 1-800-342-4432, Ext. 735965, or gmaatman@seyfarth.com.

